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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good afternoon,

          3  and welcome to today's hearing on Intro. 359,

          4  introduced by my distinguished colleague and

          5  Chairman of the Public Safety Committee, Council

          6  Member Sheldon Leffler from Queens, and Intro. 214,

          7  introduced by myself as Chairman of this Committee

          8  at the request of the Mayor.

          9                 Both of these bills deal with the

         10  regulation of dangerous dogs in New York City.

         11  First, I want to make clear we will be dealing with

         12  dangerous dogs only and not with the spay/neuter

         13  bill, which many of you mistakingly believe was

         14  scheduled for today. Please stay on the subject

         15  matter at hand.

         16                 Intro. 359 deals mostly with the role

         17  of the Commissioner after a hearing in which a dog

         18  is deemed dangerous. In this bill, the Commissioner

         19  would be required, shall, not may, to invoke certain

         20  requirements. Technical amendments to this proposed

         21  law will be made as needed as the law advances.

         22                 Intro. 214, however, opposes some

         23  major changes in the present law. The bill will

         24  eliminate the defenses of provocation, the bill

         25  seems to eliminate the hearing process before a dog
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          2  is deemed dangerous. The bill also calls for owners

          3  of Pit Bulls to obtain liability insurance of

          4  $100,000 and this seems to violate a recent state

          5  law because of this breed specifically.

          6                 The law also increases dramatically

          7  the fines imposed on those who violate this law,

          8  $1,000 minimum fine, to $10,000 maximum for the

          9  first offense, and between $2,000 and $20,000 for

         10  the second offense, and between $5,000 and $50,000

         11  for the third and all other offenses. This is in

         12  addition to the possibility of a jail sentence.

         13                 There is no question that this

         14  Committee and the City Council needs to address this

         15  issue with possible legislation; however, this

         16  hearing is the first on these bills, and in no way

         17  are we indicating that we agree with this bill in

         18  the present form.

         19                 To lead off the Administration, but

         20  before I do, let me acknowledge my colleagues,

         21  members of this Committee. First, I would like to

         22  welcome and introduce my distinguished colleague

         23  from the Bronx, Council Member Jose Rivera. Of

         24  course, the Counsel to my Committee, Jose Orengo.

         25  And I am going to, before I call upon the
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          2  Administration, yield to the distinguished chairman

          3  and who is the sponsor of one of the two bills,

          4  Council Member Sheldon Leffler, which I believe he

          5  will speak about his own bill, which is Intro. 359.

          6                 Council Member Leffler.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Thank you

          8  very much, Mr. Chairman, ladies and gentlemen.

          9                 I have followed the issue of

         10  dangerous dogs at least since 1991. That we the year

         11  when the Council's Public Safety Committee, which I

         12  then and still chair, passed the dangerous dog law,

         13  which I co-prime sponsored them with Carolyn

         14  Maloney.

         15                 Over the years it has become clear

         16  that the law needs to be strengthened. Intro. 359,

         17  which I have introduced, is a successor to the bill

         18  which I introduced in the last Council, then it was

         19  called Intro. 564. This bill adds to our basic local

         20  law 2 the additional requirement that the owner of a

         21  dog determined to be dangerous by the Health

         22  Commissioner must register with the Department of

         23  Health. The existing law makes registration at the

         24  discretion of the Commissioner. My bill would retain

         25  the existing law's provision that empowers the
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          2  Health Commissioner to order the muzzling or

          3  confinement of dangerous dogs, the maintenance of a

          4  $100,000 liability insurance policy, the human

          5  destruction of a dangerous dog, its removal from the

          6  City or the completion by the owner and the dog of a

          7  course of obedience and/or anti-bite training

          8  approved by the Commissioner.

          9                 My amendment prohibits the return of

         10  confiscated dangerous dogs where the owners fail to

         11  present sufficient evidence at a hearing held within

         12  five days of a request for the animal's return, that

         13  the return of such dangerous dogs will not endanger

         14  the safety of humans or domestic animals and will

         15  not result in the participation of the dog in a dog

         16  fight contest.

         17                 My proposed amendment I believe

         18  strikes a fair balance between the rights of members

         19  of the public to walk the streets and stroll through

         20  buildings without fear of animal attacks, while

         21  offering dog owners and pets a fair opportunity to

         22  assert their rights to get what appear to be a

         23  dangerous dog returned within a short period of

         24  time.

         25                 I think the amendment provides for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  realistic consequences which can be met efficiently

          3  and without significant cost to the City.

          4                 I propose this amendment in the hope

          5  that it would limit the number of so-called pet dogs

          6  in our City that are found to be dangerous and

          7  threatening.

          8                 In far too many circumstances serious

          9  injuries often involving children have resulted with

         10  so-called pet dogs trained to react violently even

         11  in non-threatening situations. With this

         12  legislation, we can seek to prevent the next

         13  potential victim.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

         16  Council Member.

         17                 We have also been joined by a member

         18  of this Committee, Council Member Phil Reed, who

         19  represents not only Manhattan but the Bronx too.

         20                 And as members come in, and I must

         21  say that there are other committees going on so that

         22  as they come in I introduce them, and if you see

         23  them leave it is because sometimes we have dual

         24  hearings going on at the same time.

         25                 I see at the table the distinguished
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          2  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

          3  Health, with reference to these bills, and also

          4  happens to be wearing the hat, too, of Commissioner

          5  of the Department of Mental Health, Mental

          6  Retardation and Alcoholism Services. But, however, I

          7  believe that today you are here as the Commissioner

          8  of the Department of Health.

          9                 Having said that, I also see someone

         10  who constantly comes before Council Member Leffler's

         11  Committee, as Chairman of Public Safety of which I

         12  am a member and now before my Committee, is Sergeant

         13  Thomas Tuffey, who is a managing attorney for the

         14  New York City Police Department Legislative Affairs

         15  Unit.

         16                 And so why don't we begin,

         17  Commissioner. Why don't you introduce yourself for

         18  the record, and again, Sergeant, you do the same and

         19  then you can proceed. I see you have testimony and I

         20  also see you have a video. When the testimony and

         21  the video? Video or testimony, you tell me?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Good afternoon,

         23  Chairman Robles, and members of the Health

         24  Committee. My name is Dr. Neal Cohen, I serve as

         25  Commissioner of the New York City Department of
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          2  Health. I would like to thank you for the

          3  opportunity to discuss Intro. 214, the

          4  Administration's bill relating to dangerous dogs.

          5  And with your permission, I would first like to

          6  introduce a brief news clip, that was produced by a

          7  local television station regarding dangerous dogs.

          8                 I feel this segment illustrates

          9  better than what I could say the importance and

         10  seriousness of the topic being discussed today and

         11  the need to strengthen current law with respect to

         12  dangerous dogs.

         13                 So, if I may?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sure. By all

         15  means.

         16                 (Transcription of video tape.)

         17                 MODERATOR: Sometimes they are our

         18  worst enemies. We are talking about dogs, vicious

         19  dogs. Four and a half million Americans are attacked

         20  by them every year. Investigator Joe Collins is here

         21  with the report on what is being done to protect you

         22  from killer K-9s.

         23                 Good evening, Joe.

         24                 MR. COLLINS: The dogs have killed a

         25  number of people locally and many others have been
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          2  horribly disfigured. Thousands of dogs are being put

          3  to sleep here every year for attacking people, some

          4  are saying it is time to save the dogs, others are

          5  saying it is time to take the bite out of the dogs

          6  before a dog takes a bite out of you.

          7                 Three-year-old Christina Cumstol was

          8  playing in the yard of her Bay Shore, Long Island

          9  home last summer when she was mauled by her uncle's

         10  80 pound Rotweiler.

         11                 PARTICIPANT: The dog had my daughter

         12  right here on the floor biting on her face.

         13                 MODERATOR: Christina's mother Roselyn

         14  stabbed the animal several times with a knife but it

         15  kept the girl trapped in its jaws for 30 minutes

         16  before a neighbor finally bashed the dog over the

         17  head with a chair.

         18                 PARTICIPANT: She had a gash right

         19  here across her eyebrows halfway, came right here,

         20  her eyelid had came off and the other one too.

         21                 MODERATOR: It took nearly 300

         22  stitches to close Christina's facial wounds.

         23                 In New York City dogs attack nine to

         24  10,000 people a year, most of them children. Another

         25  3,000 dogs are shot with tranquilizer guns and
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          2  impounded every year for menacing police during the

          3  arrest of their owners. Many of them end up here on

          4  New York's deathrow for dogs. Nearly 5,000 vicious

          5  dogs were exterminated last year. This one will

          6  probably be put to sleep after a ten-day rabies

          7  watch.

          8                 This 150 pound part Mastif also faces

          9  the death penalty after taking several bites out of

         10  someone.

         11                 The dismal burden of destroying

         12  thousands of dangerous dogs a year falls on animal

         13  lover Marilyn Haggerty-Blume.

         14                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: (Inaudible) you

         15  often wonder what sort of thing was done differently

         16  for this animal before it ever got to us that might

         17  have avoided the circumstances that we are left to

         18  essentially clean up after.

         19                 MODERATOR: It is often impossible to

         20  project dog bites because current law makes it

         21  difficult to anything about a bad dog until it

         22  strikes. But there are now efforts underway in both

         23  New York and New Jersey to put more teeth into dog

         24  laws.

         25                 PARTICIPANT: The priority in the City
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          2  is the protection of human beings, not of dogs.

          3                 MODERATOR: For the past year the

          4  Giuliani Administration has been pushing a tough

          5  ordinance allowing seizure of dogs identified as

          6  potentially dangerous before they actually attack a

          7  person. But tomorrow the City Council will hold only

          8  its first hearing on the proposal.

          9                 In Hillside New Jersey the Mayor

         10  there wants a new law regulating Pit Bulls and

         11  Rotweillers, that after these dogs attacked an

         12  elderly man and his dog two days before Christmas.

         13                 PARTICIPANT: This particular breed is

         14  dangerous, I don't think they should be in

         15  residential neighborhoods. I feel they should be

         16  confiscated or eliminated.

         17                 MODERATOR: Gina Colijero is the F.

         18  Lee Bailey of condemned dogs. She has represented a

         19  half dozen of them and saved them all from the death

         20  penalty, including Splinter who mauled a 12-year-old

         21  neighbor.

         22                 MS. COLIJERO: The family of the child

         23  really wanted revenge, they wanted the dog dead at

         24  all costs.

         25                 MODERATOR: But Colijero saved them
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          2  from euthanasia arguing it attacked only when the

          3  girl raised her hand to strike a younger child.

          4                 MS. COLIJERO: His behavior was

          5  instinctive, it was protective, it was defensive,

          6  and therefore it was provoked.

          7                 MODERATOR: Experts agree most bad

          8  dogs are the product of neglect, abuse or are

          9  trained to attack. But they also agree dogs have no

         10  rights if they pose a danger to humans, like

         11  Christina, who will soon undergo a third plastic

         12  surgery to repair her scars.

         13                 PARTICIPANT: Hopefully they will do

         14  something about her face a little better.

         15                 MODERATOR: Even though thousands of

         16  vicious dogs are put down every year, the Rotweiller

         17  that mauled Christina so terribly was not euthanized

         18  but was sent to an Upstate New York animal preserve

         19  for research purposes.

         20                 As for Christina, she is set to have

         21  more reconstructive surgery in about ten days.

         22                 (End of video tape.)

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Proceed.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The current

         25  provisions of the Administrative Code intended to
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          2  control vicious and dangerous dogs had been

          3  unsuccessful in achieving the objective of

          4  controlling dangerous dogs and have failed to

          5  adequately protect the public from biting dogs, they

          6  are cumbersome and costly to implement, requiring

          7  prolonged hearings before there can be a

          8  determination by the Commissioner that a particular

          9  dog is dangerous.

         10                 These provisions are in places less

         11  strict to the Health Code provisions applicable in

         12  the same situations.

         13                 Less regulation rather than more

         14  effective regulation has been the result. With that

         15  in mind, Intro. 214 was drafted to substantially

         16  amend the dangerous dog regulation and protection

         17  law of 1991, Administrative Code Section 17-342 to

         18  17-351, to clarify and strengthen definitions,

         19  remedies and measures, which the Department of

         20  Health may take to protect the public once the dog

         21  has been found to be dangerous.

         22                 Intro. 214 will strengthen and

         23  establish a consistent body of local law for

         24  controlling dangerous dogs, enable the Department to

         25  exercise administrative discretion in fashioning

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  remedies for a control of dangerous dogs, and

          3  streamline the process for making findings that a

          4  dog is dangerous, which will in turn reduce the time

          5  the animal needs to be held in a shelter.

          6                 According to the Centers for Disease

          7  Control and Prevention, the number of reported dog

          8  bites nationwide has shown a steady increase in

          9  recent years.

         10                 An estimated 4 million to 5 million

         11  dog bites occur each year nationwide. More than 60

         12  percent of these victims are children. Each year in

         13  the United States dog bites cause about 20 deaths

         14  and an estimated 750,000 injuries resulting in the

         15  need for medical attention or restricted activity.

         16                 In addition, the CDC recently

         17  reported that dog bites have become the number one

         18  reason why children visit hospital emergency rooms.

         19                 In calendar year 1997, the New York

         20  City Department of Health received reports of 7,075

         21  bites in the City.

         22                 In that same year the Department also

         23  received approximately 1,000 complaints from various

         24  non-medical sources of allegedly dangerous or

         25  menacing dogs. During Fiscal Year 1996, 693 biting
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          2  dogs were held by the Center for Animal Care and

          3  Control, the non-profit agency under contract to the

          4  City to care for stray, abandoned and dangerous

          5  animals.

          6                 In Fiscal Year '97, 892 biting dogs

          7  were held at the CACC. Of these Pit Bulls comprised

          8  the largest single category with 294 or 33 percent

          9  of the total followed by German Shepherds, Chows and

         10  Rotweilers.

         11                 It should be noted that the animals

         12  brought to CACC by the police, or other authorized

         13  enforcement agencies because of a biting history,

         14  are the worst cases, although some dogs are

         15  destroyed in the course of a police response to a

         16  report of a bite.

         17                 While the Department's experience

         18  shows Pit Bulls were not the only breed of dogs with

         19  significant reports of bites, the Pit Bulls is

         20  distinguished by its potential to do greater harm to

         21  a human than other breeds. From 1979 until 1996, of

         22  199 fatalities reported to the CDC in which the

         23  breed of the dog involved was known, 70 were

         24  attributable to pure or cross-bred Pit Bulls, and 32

         25  to pure or crossbred German Shepherds.
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          2                 Before discussing the

          3  Administration's bill, I would like to take a few

          4  minutes to describe the Department's role in

          5  protecting the citizens of New York from attacks by

          6  vicious or dangerous animals, and from diseases

          7  spread from dog bites.

          8                 As you know, the Department enforces

          9  a number of state and local laws in this area. The

         10  overall effectiveness of these laws, depends upon

         11  the cooperation of pet owners in demonstrating

         12  responsible ownership. The fact that pet ownership

         13  is overwhelmingly a private as opposed to a

         14  commercial activity makes this a special challenge

         15  in terms of enforcement.

         16                 As a means of facilitating public

         17  safety and affecting owner responsibility and

         18  accountability, the Department receives reports of

         19  animal bites mandatory under law and monitors them,

         20  responds to animal nuisance complaints, and enforces

         21  laws and investigates complaints regarding wild,

         22  vicious and dangerous animals, dog licensing and

         23  leashing.

         24                 In New York City both the

         25  Administrative Code and the Health Code similarly

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  define a vicious or dangerous animal as any animal

          3  which menaces, threatens, attacks or bites a person.

          4                 A Department record of an animal bite

          5  report received from a health care provider pursuant

          6  to Health Code Section 11.03 is prima facie evidence

          7  that an animal is vicious or dangerous. Depending on

          8  the circumstances, the Department staff will

          9  follow-up with the person bitten and a Department

         10  veterinarian will follow up with the biting animal's

         11  owner, if known, by mail or telephone. Rabies

         12  control has traditionally been and remains a

         13  department priority. A case is usually considered

         14  closed by the Bureau of Veterinary Public Health

         15  Services when the rabies status of the biting animal

         16  is known, or if that information is not available,

         17  the person bitten has been advised to consult with

         18  his or her physician.

         19                 Animals that are subjects of multiple

         20  bite reports or associated with particularly serious

         21  personal injuries, are ordered to be brought in by

         22  their owners to the Department veterinarian to

         23  observe and examine under Health Code Section

         24  161.07.

         25                 In addition to reports directly
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          2  relating to a biting incident, complaints alleging

          3  vicious or dangerous dogs are also received by the

          4  Department of Health primarily through the

          5  Department's Bureau of Complaints.

          6                 Owners of such dogs are sent a

          7  warning letter and there is an investigation by

          8  Department field staff if the problem persists. If

          9  following examination and investigation a dog is

         10  found to be vicious or dangerous but can be released

         11  conditionally to its owner, the Department issues

         12  the owner a Commissioner's order that requires the

         13  owner to confine or muzzle the animal, alter it or

         14  undergo behavioral training with the animal or

         15  requires a combination of those actions.

         16                 The owner is given three days in

         17  which to object to the order and may request an

         18  opportunity to be heard at the Department as to

         19  whether the order should be modified or rescinded.

         20                 If the Department believes that an

         21  owner is unable under any conditions to exercise

         22  control over the animal sufficient to protect the

         23  public, the owner is required to show cause at a

         24  hearing before the Administration, before the Office

         25  of Administrative Trials and Hearings, OATH, why the
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          2  dog is not vicious or dangerous and why it should

          3  not be removed from the City of New York or be

          4  humanely euthanized.

          5                 The Administration's proposed

          6  amendments would aid in clarifying the current law

          7  and significantly enhance the enforcement

          8  capabilities of the Department with respect to

          9  dangerous dogs.

         10                 I will now highlight changes from

         11  current law that the proposed amendments will

         12  affect, and discuss briefly the reasons for those

         13  changes.

         14                 Currently in identifying a dangerous

         15  dog, Administrative Code Section 17-342(c) and (e)

         16  and Section 17-347, include the defenses of

         17  provocation or excused behavior, thereby excusing a

         18  biting or menacing dog being characterized as

         19  dangerous if a bite or other anti-social behavior

         20  has been provoked.

         21                 It is almost impossible to define

         22  what a particular dog subjectively perceives as a

         23  provocation.

         24                 These definitions are difficult to

         25  interpret and implement and do not serve the
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          2  interest of public safety.

          3                 Responsible pet ownership requires

          4  that all dogs be trained and/or controlled so they

          5  do not respond to alleged provocation by biting

          6  people or other animals.

          7                 For example, a dog that resents a new

          8  baby in a household is not justified in biting the

          9  child, even if we might understand what its motives

         10  may be. The public health and safety is not served

         11  if provocation must be ruled out as a defense in

         12  every case.

         13                 I mentioned earlier that a bite

         14  report to the Department made pursuant to Section

         15  11.03 of the Health Code is deemed prima facie

         16  evidence that a dog is dangerous or vicious under

         17  Section 161.07 of the Health Code.

         18                 The current Health Code standard is

         19  more stringent and therefore more protective of

         20  public health and safety than either the current

         21  provisions of the Administrative Code or the State's

         22  dangerous dog law.

         23                 The amendments proposed are therefore

         24  consistent with the health code and permissible by

         25  recent amendments to Section 107 of the State
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          2  Agriculture and Markets Law, which among other

          3  things authorizes municipalities to enact laws

          4  regulating dangerous dogs only if such laws are more

          5  stringent than the State law.

          6                 Beyond the question of merely whether

          7  a bite has occurred, the Department is concerned

          8  with the severity of the bite and its impact.

          9                 Administrative Code Section 17-342(d)

         10  now defines severe injury as any physical injury

         11  that results in broken bones or disfiguring

         12  lacerations, requiring either multiple stitches or

         13  cosmetic surgery.

         14                 The Administrative Code definition of

         15  severity does not include death as a severe injury

         16  and is anomalous.

         17                 It has been the experience of the

         18  Department that a dog with a history of inflicting

         19  any kind of personal injury may well be dangerous,

         20  and in each case such an animal requires individual

         21  assessment. The degree of danger and the remedy

         22  which is appropriate therefore should be left to the

         23  judgment of the Commissioner after trained

         24  professionals, veterinarians and certified animal

         25  behaviorists, have examined the animal and assessed
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          2  all of the circumstances of an individual case.

          3                 The Commissioner must be allowed to

          4  exercise discretion in fashioning remedies which in

          5  individual circumstances are intended to prevent

          6  future injury.

          7                 It may be possible to determine from

          8  assessment, for example, that a dog which has to

          9  date inflicted only a minor injury or no injury at

         10  all, but which nonetheless menaces persons, should

         11  be considered vicious, and that the only remedy

         12  which should be considered is human destruction.

         13                 The current law limits the

         14  Commissioner's ability to seek humane destruction to

         15  cases where a dog has killed or severely injured a

         16  person. In this respect it is inconsistent with

         17  Health Code Section 161.07 definition of a vicious

         18  or dangerous dog, as one that has bitten a person.

         19  That definition does not rely upon the severity of

         20  the injuries.

         21                 Further, both the New York City

         22  Charter and Chapter 1 of Title 17 of the

         23  Administrative Code, Section 17-142 already broadly

         24  establish the basic authority and jurisdiction of

         25  the Commissioner and the Department of Health to
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          2  protect the public by preventing diseases and

          3  conditions and ordering the abatement of nuisances

          4  which threaten the health of the public or any

          5  individual.

          6                 Also, it is the Department's

          7  experience that it is unrealistic and impractical to

          8  schedule or hold full hearings in every case where

          9  the Department seeks to issue an order to control a

         10  dangerous dog.

         11                 The proposed amendments instead offer

         12  the owner an opportunity to be heard and to object

         13  to the content of any order issued by the Department

         14  for the control of his or her dog.

         15                 The Department's policy and practice

         16  is that there should be always an appropriate

         17  investigation of every animal bite and of every

         18  complaint of a menacing animal. We attempt to assess

         19  each reported bite and complaint individually. And

         20  based on the investigation, make a determination as

         21  to which remedy or remedies are appropriate.

         22                 Not every dog will need to be seized

         23  upon the receipt of every complaint or bite report.

         24  A dog which is seized for observation and

         25  examination may be released unconditionally or
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          2  conditionally, depending upon the examiner's report

          3  or not be returned if the examiner's recommendation

          4  is that the dog would be dangerous under any

          5  circumstances if returned to its owner.

          6                 In the latter case, the

          7  recommendation will be incorporated in a

          8  commissioner's order to which the owner may object

          9  and in which case the owner may request an

         10  opportunity by the Department.

         11                 Following the opportunity to be

         12  heard, and if the determination and remedies ordered

         13  become a final agency determination, then the order

         14  would be subject to challenge in an Article 78

         15  proceeding in court. This approach in our view

         16  strikes the appropriate balance between protecting

         17  the public health and the rights of the animal owner

         18  and no order, short of banishment or humane

         19  euthanization imposes irreparable harm. Any owner,

         20  after an opportunity to be heard by the Department,

         21  can challenge an order in court.

         22                 The proposed requirement that the

         23  owner of a dangerous dog pay all expense incurred by

         24  the Department of Health in seizing, holding,

         25  examining and disposing of the dog is appropriate.
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          2                 Dogs seized as dangerous occupy

          3  considerable space in the CACC shelters, and reduce

          4  the capacity of the shelters for boarding animals

          5  that may be adoptable.

          6                 Further, the activities of the City

          7  and responsible enforcement of dog licensing laws,

          8  regulation of pet-related businesses and the

          9  investigations of complaints related to dangerous

         10  dogs have sharply increased the costs associated

         11  with animal control, and are not covered by the

         12  costs of licensing. Recovering the expenses incurred

         13  in sheltering such animals and investigating

         14  dangerous dog complaints will to some extent offset

         15  the costs of additional departmental resources

         16  required, investigate and respond in a more timely

         17  fashion to dangerous dog reports and complaints.

         18                 The Administrative Code now

         19  identifies registration of a dangerous dog as a

         20  requirement which the Department may impose after

         21  making its determination.

         22                 This requirement has proven

         23  impractical. When any dog is seized because it is

         24  lost, strayed or dangerous, and the dog is returned

         25  to an owner, the owner is required to obtain a
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          2  license and vaccinate the dog for rabies as minimum

          3  prerequisites for the dog's return.

          4                 Information obtained on a dog license

          5  application provides the Department with sufficient

          6  identifying information to follow-up on bite reports

          7  or other incidents. An additional registration

          8  requirement serves no purpose and could convey the

          9  erroneous impression that by requiring the owner to

         10  register a dangerous dog, the Department is allowing

         11  it to exist.

         12                 This provision currently does nothing

         13  to alleviate the danger to the public and should be

         14  repealed.

         15                 The Administrative Code currently

         16  allows the Commissioner to require the owner of a

         17  dangerous dog to maintain a liability policy of

         18  $100,000 to compensate victims of bites from

         19  dangerous dogs. This bill would renumber and amend

         20  that section as Section 17-344(d)(2) to provide that

         21  when the Commissioner has ordered that a liability

         22  insurance policy be obtained, failure to submit

         23  proof within five business days of such order that

         24  such policy has been obtained, that such a policy

         25  has been obtained may result in the seizure and
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          2  humane destruction of the dangerous dog.

          3                 Intro. 214 would allow the

          4  Commissioner to require that a dangerous dog be

          5  spayed or neutered prior to its return to its owner.

          6  This provision reflects the consensus among experts

          7  in this field and a body of empirical data

          8  indicating that altering a dog may reduce its

          9  aggressiveness.

         10                 Furthermore, the proposed provisions

         11  allowing the Commissioner to impose any other

         12  requirement deemed necessary for the control of the

         13  animal is essential to provide the discretion and

         14  latitude needed to tailor remedies to individual

         15  circumstances without the constraints of a limited

         16  list of remedies.

         17                 The enforcement provisions of this

         18  subchapter, renumbered at Section 17-348, were also

         19  authorized staff of the CACC as agents of the

         20  Department to assist in enforcing the law since CACC

         21  has assumed dog control duties in the contract to

         22  the Department of Health.

         23                 It is further proposed that

         24  Administrative Section 349, which authorizes a

         25  dangerous dog advisory board within the Department
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          2  be repealed.

          3                 Current law requires the Department

          4  in conjunction with the dangerous dog advisory board

          5  to promulgate regulations to implement the provision

          6  of this legislative scheme.

          7                 This provision should be repealed

          8  because the proposed amendments we are recommending

          9  are explicit and comprehensive. Additional

         10  regulations would inevitably be redundant.

         11                 In addition, the Commissioner already

         12  has the authority, by virtue of City Charter Section

         13  1043-A to promulgate regulations necessary to carry

         14  out the Department's duties as set forth in federal,

         15  state or local law, irrespective of the dangerous

         16  dog advisory board.

         17                 Finally, our bill would increase the

         18  penalty for violating the law, not only by

         19  broadening the scope of conduct that is punishable,

         20  but also by enhancing the financial penalties

         21  associated with violating the law.

         22                 Conduct that is already a misdemeanor

         23  will carry with it greater monetary penalties,

         24  depending upon whether it is the first, second or

         25  third offense.
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          2                 For a first offense, an owner could

          3  be liable for a fine of $1,000, up from the current

          4  minimum of $500 to as much as $10,000.

          5                 A second offense could result in a

          6  fine between $2,000 and $20,000 and a third or

          7  subsequent offense, a fine between $5,000 and

          8  $50,000.

          9                 As in current law the alternative

         10  penalty could be a term of imprisonment of up to a

         11  year or both the jail term and fine could be

         12  imposed.

         13                 Intro 214 also provides for enhanced

         14  penalties of a civil nature. A first offense could

         15  carry a civil penalty between $1,000 and $10,000, a

         16  second offense could mean a penalty between $2,000

         17  and $20,000, and a third offense a $5,000 to $50,000

         18  penalty.

         19                 I would now like to briefly comment

         20  on another piece of dangerous dog legislation being

         21  discussed today, Intro. 359.

         22                 While we appreciate the author's

         23  intentions, the Department does not believe that

         24  Intro. 359 offers any improvements in the control of

         25  dangerous dogs.
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          2                 Intro. 359 continues to require

          3  registration of a vicious or dangerous dog. This

          4  measure is already available to the Department, and

          5  as pointed out earlier is unnecessary and has no

          6  utility.

          7                 When the Department has found a dog

          8  to be dangerous, we know what the animal looks like,

          9  and where it is harbored because it must have a

         10  license, just as any other dog in New York City.

         11                 If this dog is reported to be

         12  involved in another biting or menacing incident, the

         13  Department records will be searched and the dog's

         14  history assessed. In such cases, depending on the

         15  danger presented to the public by such history, the

         16  Department may seek to terminate ownership or banish

         17  or humanely euthanize the animal.

         18                 New or additional tag identifying the

         19  dog as a dangerous dog as required by Intro. 359

         20  serves no purpose in such registration as dangerous

         21  would seem to give an individual permission to own a

         22  dangerous dog.

         23                 Both the Administration's bill and

         24  Intro. 359 propose amendments to Section 17-346

         25  regarding confiscation of and confinement of a
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          2  dangerous dog. The Administration's bill would

          3  eliminate the hearing that is currently required

          4  when the dog is seized because an owner of a

          5  dangerous dog violated the previous commissioner's

          6  order. Instead the owner would have an opportunity

          7  to be heard upon request.

          8                 Intro. 359, though, adds a provision

          9  if the owner failed to established at a hearing that

         10  returning the dog to the owner will not endanger the

         11  public, it shall not be returned.

         12                 This provision is unnecessary because

         13  the owner's right to own such a dog would be

         14  terminated as a matter of course once it was found

         15  that the owner violated the Commissioner's order.

         16  And if the owner's rights were terminated, the dog

         17  would not be returned to the owner under any

         18  circumstances.

         19                 The Administration's bill proposes

         20  substitution of an opportunity to be heard for a

         21  formal hearing.

         22                 Also, Intro. 359 continues to require

         23  and expands regulations to be promulgated by the

         24  Commissioner. This provision has been revoked in the

         25  Administration's bill because such regulations would
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          2  be unnecessary, confusing and duplicative of current

          3  regulations in the Health Code.

          4                 In closing, I would like to reiterate

          5  that the Administration's proposed amendments will

          6  strengthen and establish a consistent body of local

          7  law for controlling dangerous dogs, enable the

          8  Health Department to exercise administrative

          9  discretion in fashioning remedies for control of

         10  dangerous dogs, and streamline the process for

         11  making findings that a dog is dangerous, which will

         12  in turn reduce the time the animal needs to be held

         13  in a shelter.

         14                 I urge you to support and quickly

         15  vote on this important piece of legislation.

         16                 Again, I would like to thank you for

         17  the opportunity I have had to testify before this

         18  Committee.

         19                 With your permission, Chairman

         20  Robles, I would like to ask Sergeant Tuffey, from

         21  the Police Department to recount some of the

         22  experiences of the agency with respect to dangerous

         23  dogs after which I will be very happy to answer any

         24  of your questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That's fine. I
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          2  just want to pause for a minute, because like I

          3  said, there are dual hearings going on, I know Land

          4  Use. So I want to acknowledge Council Member Una

          5  Clarke, from Brooklyn, a member of this Committee,

          6  and the former Chairman of this Committee, now

          7  Chairman of the Rules Committee, Council Member

          8  Morty Povman from Queens.

          9                 Okay, Sergeant.

         10                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Good afternoon,

         11  Chairman Robles and members of the City Council's

         12  Health Committee. My name is Sergeant Thomas Tuffey,

         13  and I am the Managing Attorney of the Police

         14  Department's Legislative Affairs Unit.

         15                 I am here today on behalf of Police

         16  Commissioner Howard Safir, to convey the Police

         17  Department's support to the idea of reducing the

         18  number of dangerous dogs in New York City.

         19                 As the agency most often called upon

         20  to deal with dangerous dogs who threaten and prey

         21  upon the public, we encourage the Committee to

         22  address and help correct this serious problem.

         23                 Since 1996, the Police Department has

         24  responded to over 9,000 dangerous dog incidents.

         25  Each one of these incidents involves circumstances
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          2  where an uncontrollably vicious dog placed at least

          3  one person in peril of immediate physical or even

          4  serious physical injury.

          5                 In other words, on an average of more

          6  than eight times per day, since 1996, the Police

          7  Department has been called to deal with an animal

          8  that has posed a threat to life, a threat so serious

          9  that police officers and supervisors found it

         10  necessary to call for the assistance of the

         11  Department's emergency service unit to respond to

         12  the scene.

         13                 In most of those instances emergency

         14  service officers darted the animals, which sedated

         15  them sufficiently so that it was possible for the

         16  dog to be transported to the Center for Animal Care

         17  and Control.

         18                 Despite these problems posed by the

         19  demand and risks of these darting cases, it is the

         20  cases where our members are confronted

         21  instantaneously and without the assistance of the

         22  emergency service unit, and where quick decisions

         23  must be made that pose the greatest risk and

         24  challenge for the members of our Department.

         25                 For example, consider the situation
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          2  that arises when a warrant is being executed and

          3  officers enter an apartment and are immediately

          4  attacked by a vicious dog while apprehending its

          5  master or owner. It is in situations like this where

          6  the police officers have had to make split second

          7  decisions whether or not to shoot these animals. In

          8  fact, from 1996 through 1998 dog shootings by

          9  members of the Department occurred in over 270

         10  instances.

         11                 When these shooting incidents occur,

         12  the officer is placed in the situation of balancing

         13  the need to eliminate the threat of a dangerous dog

         14  against the risk inherent in any firearm discharge,

         15  to the officer, to the other officers and to the

         16  members of the public.

         17                 Recent examples of such shootings

         18  include a Brooklyn officer who observed the Pit

         19  Bulls walking along the sidewalk foaming at the

         20  mouth, without a leash and unaccompanied by an

         21  owner. It occurred in the late afternoon in the

         22  midst of a residential neighborhood crowded with

         23  children.

         24                 Patrol officers and emergency service

         25  personnel were able to track the dog as it
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          2  eventually went into an alley where the dog was

          3  darted. Unfortunately, however, the dog reacted to

          4  the darting by attacking a police officer, resulting

          5  in shots being fired at the dog and a police officer

          6  sustaining a gun shot wound to his foot.

          7                 In another scenario in a Brooklyn

          8  Housing complex, officers turned a corner to find

          9  themselves within inches of a vicious and

         10  uncontrollable dog. The dog immediately bit one of

         11  the officers and repeatedly pursued her partner.

         12  After several attempts to avoid the attack, the

         13  pursuit officer was forced to shoot the animal.

         14                 A third example involved two K-9

         15  officers and their dogs when they were conducting a

         16  search, an apparently vicious Pit Bull circled the

         17  officers, threatening the police officers and their

         18  dogs. Although the officers attempted to scare off

         19  the vicious dog, the dog made an attack which

         20  resulted in both K-9 officers having to fire their

         21  weapons at the animal. Even after the dog was struck

         22  it attempted to pursue one of the police officers,

         23  ultimately being shot again and darted.

         24                 Our officers could provide dozens of

         25  more examples involving dangerous dogs and the
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          2  tragedies that can result when these dogs are left

          3  to prey upon the public. We have all heard too many

          4  stories of threatening incidents and injuries

          5  inflicted upon our members and also members of the

          6  public. Most importantly, there are too many cases

          7  where people have suffered physical and mental

          8  injuries that will affect them for the rest of their

          9  lives.

         10                 However, regardless of the number of

         11  examples provided or whether an incident involves a

         12  small child, another animal or perhaps another

         13  police officer being victimized, the message is

         14  quite clear, the best way to reduce dangerous dog

         15  incidents and the threat to public safety is to

         16  reduce the number of dangerous dogs.

         17                 We in the Police Department request

         18  your support in pursuing that goal.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         21                 Before I get to Commissioner Cohen,

         22  let me stay with you, Sergeant. Because I happen to

         23  sit on two committees, I preside over this Committee

         24  and I also sit on the Public Safety Committee, and I

         25  just wanted to set the record straight because I
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          2  believe that when issues come up before the

          3  Committees, I try to stay on top.

          4                 Your testimony in the beginning and

          5  ending did not say that the Police Commissioner is

          6  in support of either or of the bills before us. What

          7  is the Police Department's position on the bill?

          8                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: The Police

          9  Department reports legislation which will reduce

         10  dangerous dog incidents. So, we are --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I wanted to make

         12  sure.

         13                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Go ahead.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I wanted to be

         15  sure. So that what I heard from you is while I

         16  commend the Commissioner in asking us to focus and

         17  address the need to, he did not or he has not taken

         18  a position as a Commissioner and Department in

         19  support of either of the two bills before us today;

         20  is that fair to say?

         21                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: What is fair to say

         22  is that we are deferring to the Department of Health

         23  on this issue since it is their area of expertise,

         24  and we believe, as they do, that if this legislation

         25  reduces dangerous dog incidents, then we support it.
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          2  To put it simply, we are deferring to the Department

          3  of Health as far as the specifics of the bill. We

          4  are in support of any legislation which will reduce

          5  dangerous dog incidents.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I must tell you,

          7  I have been here 14 years and that is the best

          8  answer I have ever seen.

          9                 Okay, let me go to another thing

         10  because I happen to be, it's like motherhood, how

         11  can I be against it. It sounds good.

         12                 Anyway, let me ask you another thing.

         13  Since, and you go from 1969 to present and it is

         14  about -- I am sorry, 1996 to the present, I am not

         15  aware, maybe not so much in this Committee because

         16  you don't usually make it a habit of coming before

         17  this Committee, it's rare, but I welcome you.

         18                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But I do get a

         20  chance to see you and you, Commissioner, in the

         21  Public Safety Committee, I am not aware, a we have

         22  oversights of the Police Department, where this

         23  issue, given the numbers you gave me about the

         24  incidents, has been an area that you have attempted

         25  to address as part of the overall Police Department
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          2  because we now we don't have to defer anything to

          3  the Health Department, we are talking about police

          4  officers, men and women, who must take action, and

          5  apparently from what you are telling me, that this

          6  has become an issue or a concern, if not, you would

          7  not be here; is that correct to say?

          8                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Absolutely correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But you have not

         10  discussed this or brought this before the Committee

         11  on Public Safety in addressing this issue; is that

         12  correct?

         13                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Well, it is an

         14  ongoing part of our training. We have addressed this

         15  internally within the Department as a problem --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is not my

         17  question.

         18                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It's not part of

         20  your internal -- I am not against you, I just want

         21  to make sure --

         22                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: I know you aren't.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine, set

         24  the record straight.

         25                 Commissioner, let me perhaps before I
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          2  call on some of my colleagues, throw out because I

          3  watched this morning the media like we all do, and

          4  must be candid with you that there were issues

          5  raised in which I have concerns with and as we move

          6  forward, as I said, this Committee and this Chair

          7  intends to work with you and the prime sponsor of

          8  the other bill, but there are areas I would like for

          9  you to clearly set clear in the record.

         10                 I know that in your testimony you

         11  mention state law. Let me share with you an area

         12  that, and I am not a lawyer, so like you I have to

         13  have someone sitting next to me, you know? Like him.

         14  I have him. And it is brought to my attention the

         15  following, i.e. the law. Section 17-349 of Intro.

         16  214 -- I want you to listen. Where you require an

         17  owner of a Pit Bull to get liability insurance seems

         18  to be inconsistent with stat law, Section 107,

         19  Agriculture and Market Law, which prohibits breeds

         20  specific legislation. That is what I am told, and I

         21  am not the lawyer, what the law says. What are your

         22  views regarding this, since being a public servant

         23  for quite some time I do know, since I served in the

         24  State Legislature before I came here, that we are

         25  the creatures of the State, like we are the
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          2  creatures of the federal government. If state law

          3  prohibits or clearly spells out, based upon what my

          4  lawyers are telling me, then can you explain to me

          5  how you are not in violation of state law?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am joined at

          7  the table by Mr. Wilfredo Lopez, who is the General

          8  Counsel, and he will assist me in responding to many

          9  of the questions that are questions of law, as you

         10  pointed out.

         11                 Speaking as the Commissioner of the

         12  Department of Health, this proposal bears upon a

         13  public health issue that recognizing that this

         14  particular breed is markedly more dangerous in

         15  relation to its history and certain breed traits

         16  that inflict severe injury and historically both in

         17  New York City and throughout the nation create a

         18  greater threat to the public health and safety, we

         19  view the imposition of a requirement for liability

         20  insurance for this breed to be appropriate and

         21  fitting with respect to a public health assessment

         22  of dangerousness.

         23                 I should add that in the current

         24  administrative law there is allowance for this

         25  imposition of liability insurance by the
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          2  Commissioner of the same amount to $100,000, to

          3  enable a dog owner, the owner of a dangerous dog, to

          4  meet any potential liability that could derive from

          5  a biting incident.

          6                 So, we are extending that empowerment

          7  of the Commissioner to the amendment here that would

          8  extend to the breed that we think uniformly has been

          9  shown throughout the nation to pose the greatest

         10  risk to the public health and safety.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me again

         12  perhaps pose the question again to your lawyer,

         13  since you gave me, and I respect it, a professional

         14  health person, interesting interpretation, like I

         15  can give you a political interpretation as a

         16  professional public servant, but let me then again

         17  get to the point.

         18                 Subdivision 5 of this law or section

         19  1, new subdivision 5 of this law, our report says

         20  the following.

         21                 Nothing contained in this article

         22  shall prevent a municipality from adopting its own

         23  program for the control of dangerous dogs, provided,

         24  however, that no such program shall be less

         25  stringent than this article and no such program
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          2  shall regulate dogs in a manner that is specifically

          3  as to a breed.

          4                 I think my question is not whether

          5  you have the right to do certain things, whether

          6  there are other dogs, I just want to get clear in my

          7  mind for myself and those lawyers on this Committee,

          8  I am not -- I rely tremendously on Jose Orengo, I

          9  respect his knowledge of the law, I rely on guidance

         10  and that is what -- I am confused, so let me again,

         11  let's stick to the law and once you answer your

         12  interpretation, my next question is, have you made

         13  contact with the State agency and submitted that

         14  part of the bill, and have they said to you that,

         15  no, this is not in violation of state law?

         16                 MR. LOPEZ: If I may, Mr. Chairman?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sure.

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: I think that, one, the

         19  City has sought to amend that law so that that part

         20  would not be applicable to the City.

         21                 However, it should also --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, please, in

         23  fairness to me, and some of my colleagues who are

         24  not so quick on the law, when you say that, are you

         25  saying that you attempted to change the law in the
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          2  state legislature?

          3                 MR. LOPEZ: The state law.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But you have not

          5  been successful, correct?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So am I correct

          8  in saying that what I am being told currently is the

          9  law?

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I think there are a

         11  couple of points that need to be made.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         13                 MR. LOPEZ: One, I think it is a fair

         14  question to say that whether the mere imposition of

         15  this liability insurance requirement is regulating a

         16  dog as contemplated by that State Legislation.

         17                 Let me go on to say, though, that

         18  this bill was drafted approximately a year ago and

         19  as you indicated in your introductory statements,

         20  this is the beginning of a process.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: And I think that it is a

         23  fair question to talk about.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I want to

         25  make sure to be honest on both sides, because, you
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          2  know, I want to be clear, my name happens to be

          3  Robles at the request of the Mayor because in our

          4  legislative process, whether it is here at City Hall

          5  or in Albany or in congress, when the President,

          6  when the Governor and the Mayor, it is usually the

          7  chair of the appropriate committee to courtesy carry

          8  the bill, and I am just raising it because as we

          9  move forward, I want to be clear on what I have been

         10  briefed on and I have some problems with it; and

         11  that is, is it fair to say that since this bill has

         12  been around for a year, has there been any attempt

         13  besides changing the law, have you passed this bill

         14  through since waiting for a year with the State

         15  agency that regulates the state law to see whether

         16  this bill does not violate state law.

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: To my knowledge we have

         18  not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         20  That's fair.

         21                 I have a lot of questions but let me

         22  then perhaps in fairness go to my colleagues, and

         23  before I call on you, Council member, I want to make

         24  sure that none of my colleagues have questions.

         25                 So, let me go to the distinguished
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          2  chair of the Subcommittee of this Committee on

          3  Mental Health, Mental Retardation and maybe when we

          4  get finished we might need her services, but Council

          5  Member Una Clarke, from Brooklyn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 But in deference to a colleague who

          9  is also a sponsor of a companion bill or another

         10  bill, and because he has been here before me, may I

         11  yield to him only because of his seniority, albeit I

         12  have the ranking status?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do you see why we

         14  yield to the State Legislature and the law? Okay,

         15  Council Member Leffler.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Thank you

         17  very much, Councilwoman Clarke.

         18                 Let me just say I welcome your work

         19  on this. I think that you have done a thoughtful job

         20  and it has been some time. We had a hearing on this

         21  according to my notes in May of 1995, and you came

         22  back with this bill at the end of February 28th,

         23  1998. But I think we can hopefully now proceed to

         24  reach an agreement and improve the law in the area.

         25                 One difference, it seems to me,
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          2  correct me if I am wrong, between your proposal and

          3  the current law and the bill that I have introduced

          4  relates to the provisions for a hearing. I am

          5  referring specifically to Section 17-346, which I

          6  think under your bill is amended to 17-345.

          7                 The current law has a more automatic

          8  provision for a hearing, does it not?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, it does.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: In other

         11  words, a dog would not be deemed to be a dangerous

         12  dog and taken away and kept away without a hearing

         13  under the current law. Whereas under yours it seems

         14  to me that you as the Commissioner would have the

         15  sort of power to make the determinations here and

         16  proceed and would only be if the owner petitioned

         17  that there would be the possibility of a hearing; is

         18  that correct? Is that a difference between the

         19  current law and your bill and the other intro that I

         20  introduced.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is correct.

         22  But it is our view that this is --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Why is it

         24  desirable, your change?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is desirable
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          2  and also consistent with Health Codes as it is

          3  written.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But isn't it

          5  a significant change in the rights of the owners,

          6  basically in terms of shifting the burden of proof

          7  even as, and therefore affecting whether or not

          8  somebody would be able to get back a dog, that the

          9  owner believes and maybe determined not to be

         10  dangerous?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: If I may?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, please.

         13                 MR. LOPEZ: Again, juxtaposing the

         14  existing law or even the proposed bill with the

         15  existing Health Code provisions that in fact create

         16  a bite, the fact of a bite, as a prima facie

         17  indication of viciousness or dangerous, that is

         18  something that the Health Code provides for.

         19                 Going forward with that, providing an

         20  opportunity to be heard to a dog owner when the

         21  Department fashions a, what we believe is a

         22  reasonable remedy in a particular case. So, it is

         23  not in these opportunities to be heard or even in

         24  more formal administrative hearings, does not really

         25  effect a burden of proof in terms of you know
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          2  reasonable doubt or beyond this or that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Doesn't it?

          4  Because it seems to me under your bill and proposal,

          5  you would make a determination by yourselves and

          6  only afterward would there be a possibility of a

          7  petition by the owner, for example, to get the dog

          8  back, that the dog isn't dangerous or that remedial

          9  steps can be taken.

         10                 But under the current law, there

         11  would be no determination made until there is a

         12  hearing. So, it seems to me that this is a real

         13  difference in that there are more rights for the

         14  owners of the animals under the current law under my

         15  bill than under yours, and I am not sure why it

         16  would make sense to change that part of the

         17  legislation.

         18                 This is a limited point and an

         19  overall, you know, worthwhile endeavor that you made

         20  here.

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: I think you have to

         22  consider the circumstances under which these are

         23  used, and balance that against the effort and the

         24  time it takes to engage in a formal hearing process.

         25  If we are just talking about fashioning a
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          2  commissioner's order that requires a dog to be

          3  muzzled while in public, under the existing

          4  Administrative Code provision and under Intro. 359,

          5  we would have to go through a hearing process even

          6  to get to that stage. And it seems to us that that

          7  is not such an intrusion or such an onerous

          8  obligation under the circumstances that it would

          9  necessitate a formal hearing, and, again, hearings

         10  tend to get, formal hearings tend to get drawn out,

         11  and the animal may continue to be in custody

         12  unnecessarily while all of this is played out in a

         13  formal hearing process.

         14                 So that an opportunity to be heard

         15  being less formal and more expeditious that allows a

         16  dog owner to object, even to a muzzling, and to get

         17  a fair opportunity to be heard seems to us to strike

         18  the right balance.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You know, to

         20  many people having a pet, a dog, may be very, very

         21  important. In fact, a person may be closer to the

         22  dog than most anybody else alive, therefore it seems

         23  to me that to reverse it and do it this way without

         24  a hearing, and only thereafter allow for somebody

         25  else to make a motion, I don't see that you have
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          2  established that that is basically what the public

          3  wants or what is the best thing.

          4                 It seems to me that we would retain

          5  the hearing provision with the overall scheme that

          6  you are recommending, I don't think you have made

          7  the case yet for eliminating the hearing. I think

          8  that to an awful lot of people not affecting the

          9  animal and you know, how the animal is going to live

         10  or whether the animal will even live, you know,

         11  should only be done after a hearing.

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, I

         13  think it should be pointed out that in the current

         14  process and procedure it is not unusual with the

         15  hearing requirement that dogs are maintained at the

         16  shelter for up to six months, not unusual at all.

         17                 Of course, it is our hope that given

         18  a more flexible way of dealing with the variety of

         19  options that a commissioner's order would have, that

         20  the dog owner would also see a benefit to being able

         21  to have a more streamlined process.

         22                 Given the fact that the challenge in

         23  an Article 78 court proceeding remains an option to

         24  an individual before a final determination can be

         25  made, or can be implemented.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right. But

          3  that is burdensome. It seems to me that we can have

          4  a lot of the benefits with what you are trying to do

          5  here while still retaining the hearing.

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: I think also it should be

          7  pointed out that an opportunity to be heard is

          8  perhaps an umbrella term that can encompass a whole

          9  spectrum of different kinds of opportunities from a

         10  phone call, a meeting, a more elaborate kind of

         11  opportunity, all the way to a more formal process,

         12  and I believe if you review the Commissioner's

         13  testimony, it points out that under our current

         14  procedures, when the Department is seeking to

         15  euthanize an animal, it does afford the dog owner a

         16  formal hearing at the Office of Administrative

         17  Trials and Hearings, and that is a formal process.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me, before I

         19  call back again on Council Member Clarke, let me

         20  perhaps say that I think what we need to do is to

         21  separate the various bites, the common bites, the

         22  police bites, the every so often tragically -- don't

         23  get me wrong, when you look at that video, you know,

         24  that you have a child.

         25                 But there is a difference, because,
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          2  Commissioner, if in your testimony you point out

          3  that in the City of New York, in 1997, 7,075 dog

          4  bites in the City. Then you go on to say that in

          5  1996, 693 dog bites were held, dogs, at these

          6  centers. Here is the question that, again, I need to

          7  get straight in my mind:

          8                 Under the current law, even though

          9  there is -- well, in a democratic society it is

         10  common for people to expect what we constantly refer

         11  to in the street as a day in court, and your day in

         12  court does not necessarily mean a courthouse.

         13  Commonly you could also talk about your right to go

         14  before a hearing officer, parking tickets,

         15  Department of Health violations for this, for that,

         16  what have you, so that is a common thing. And people

         17  feel that even though you disagree and you rule them

         18  to be, you know, not so, at least they felt they

         19  have their day in court.

         20                 Second, as I understand it, and

         21  correct me if I am wrong, I am also told that you as

         22  the Commissioner have the right to detain that

         23  animal that you deem as dangerous or a vicious dog,

         24  and I think up to six months, and in the process you

         25  have a hearing. Now, not every hearing -- well, what
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          2  I need to have you do is break down for me the

          3  numbers. How many of those bites appearing to be

          4  related to dogs went beyond six months or better?

          5  Since you talked about a year. I just don't know,

          6  how many? And you are very vague. And if you have

          7  that, then share it with us. Because that would only

          8  help your argument and your bill.

          9                 If a person goes to a house and a

         10  pet, while not a vicious dog, but somebody comes

         11  into the house and bites the person, that does not

         12  necessarily mean that that dog is a dangerous dog.

         13  So, would you please give to us, because I know you

         14  are going to give us, but I think if you have data

         15  and it backs up your argument, how many dogs in '97

         16  was 7,000 plus, then also give us the scenario, how

         17  many were kept at these centers, how many of those

         18  hearings -- you know, so that if you are telling me

         19  that these hearings are being dragged and you got

         20  all of these dogs in the place, and I must tell you

         21  that I am not necessarily pleased with the reports I

         22  hear about your centers, that we changed it.

         23  Remember there was an ASPCA and they were supposed

         24  to get better and I am seeing reports that things

         25  are not going so well.
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          2                 So, I hope as much, and I join you,

          3  Commissioner, don't get me wrong, I am the Chairman

          4  of the Committee and I have an obligation and a

          5  responsibility to also worry about the police

          6  officers. I know that in my area, unfortunately,

          7  what some people use those Pit Bulls for and others,

          8  so don't get me wrong. But I also believe that we

          9  have to separate between, may she rest in peace, my

         10  "Tootsie" would have crucified me, because I had a

         11  dog that I would give my life for, and it is very

         12  painful, and I don't have another dog because

         13  honestly I am not over yet the years I spent with

         14  her, and I must tell you that that was my job. So, I

         15  think we should get some kind of separation between

         16  the dangerous label and how people try to deal with

         17  it, and also if you have all of these centers packed

         18  with dogs, especially vicious dogs, then please

         19  share that with us.

         20                 Is that okay, Commissioner?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. Some of the

         22  data you are asking for we don't have immediately.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, I don't

         24  expect you to. But you know what I have a problem

         25  with sometimes? When people come to either support a
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          2  bill or against a bill is what is said, and what is

          3  said sounds good, and when you don't have the

          4  back-up material it is hard to argue or at least --

          5  what I am trying to do is get the facts. Again, no

          6  disrespect to the Police Department, I have been a

          7  member of the Public Safety Committee for 14 years,

          8  the same number of years that I have been on the

          9  Health Committee, I have never heard the Police

         10  Department come before Sheldon Leffler's Committee

         11  in the last three years to talk about these

         12  dangerous dogs that policemen all the time either

         13  shoot or use the taser, and you know I go to those

         14  meetings. So, when you come before us and you now

         15  say, oh, by the way, last year or the last three

         16  years this was a growing concern of the Police

         17  Department, I must tell you that, one, it has never

         18  been discussed, even when the Commissioner has been

         19  here, and, two, either in the Public Safety

         20  Committee. So, I don't want an answer now, but I am

         21  just asking you, like Council Member Leffler asked

         22  them a question, you know, if you want, you have to

         23  show your argument to be one that is justified. Not

         24  just on cameras and on notes.

         25                 So, I hope that we can get that kind

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  of information?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, we will pass

          4  that along to you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In response to

          7  your concern, I think it is very relevant to point

          8  out that of the 7,075 dog bites that were reported

          9  in 1997, the fact that we have 892 dogs held in

         10  Fiscal Year '97 points to a discretion that is

         11  exercised by the Department of Health to

         12  discriminate between those situations, those

         13  incidents that are of a more relatively minor nature

         14  than those that are of a more serious nature. So, I

         15  think our track record holds up that we have not

         16  abused the privilege of separating dogs from their

         17  owners, except in what we consider to be high risk

         18  situations that require further evaluation for the

         19  public health and safety.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But your bill, as

         21  it is now, and again this is the first time, and I

         22  am ready to work with you, your bill does not

         23  separate the difference between the 7,000 that you

         24  are referring to, and the 600 that you kept. But the

         25  bill blanketly holds everyone, regardless of what
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          2  the nature of the dog and the bite is. And I may be

          3  wrong, don't get me wrong, but I think those are the

          4  kind of things that need to see.

          5                 And let me also say that I believe

          6  government of the people, by the people, and for the

          7  people, should have the right to have their day in

          8  court. So, while if you want to work with me, and I

          9  want to say respectfully too, you just became the

         10  Commissioner of Health, as Chairman in the last year

         11  of the Health Committee, I have not seen the agency

         12  come before us and say, oh, we need to work together

         13  to address, one, if those shelters are overloaded,

         14  what do we do? Second, do we talk about staffing? I

         15  mean, there are other components that we need to be

         16  addressing too, than just simply saying, oh, the

         17  centers, whether it is in Brooklyn, whether it is

         18  here or there, you know, you act like you have all

         19  these dogs. There are other things we need to be

         20  addressing.

         21                 I must tell you honestly, at least in

         22  the last year I have been as chair, as you know, I

         23  have been on the Committee, yes, we have addressed

         24  shelters. And I thought that when we went in from

         25  the ASPCA to this not-for-profit or for-profit or
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          2  whatever it is in place now, that it was supposed to

          3  change what were some of the things that were going

          4  on before. I must tell you, and I will deal with it,

          5  this is not the time. Believe me, you just gave me a

          6  good topic to come back and bring you in and maybe

          7  you can really show me all of these and you will

          8  know what I have been looking for. But I just wanted

          9  to make sure you understand where I am coming from,

         10  it's not that I am against your bill, it is that

         11  there are questions, like has been said, I have some

         12  reservations and I need that to be clearly defined,

         13  and it is not just simply saying -- you know, you

         14  want to protect the health of the people, let's go

         15  back with the whole thing of the food vendors and

         16  the restaurants and the tobacco, I mean there are a

         17  lot of other things, you know, lead poisoning, lead

         18  paint, you name it, I am with you, I am ready to

         19  work with you, okay?

         20                 Council Member Clarke.

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: If I may, Chairman Robles.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sure.

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: I just want to put this

         24  approach in the context of how we generally, in a

         25  lot of instances, go about protecting the public
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          2  health.

          3                 As the Commissioner's testimony

          4  referred to, under the Charter and under another

          5  part of Title 17 of the Administrative Code with

          6  regard to nuisances, it is common for the

          7  Commissioner to be presented with a particular

          8  situation and say that is detrimental to health or

          9  dangerous to life, say that that is a nuisance and

         10  order an immediate abatement, whether that be with

         11  regard to lead abatement, whether it be with regard

         12  to even detaining a non-compliant TB patient. A lot

         13  of times a Commissioner's order is issued and

         14  thereafter an opportunity to object to that is

         15  afforded, but first and foremost it is to protect

         16  the public health.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Currently now

         18  under the current law, with all due respect, and

         19  this law was passed before I came here, that's not

         20  here nor there, I was around. The point is,

         21  currently I believe what you are really trying to do

         22  is, for example, the current law now says

         23  provocation, allows for the defense of provocation

         24  and exercised behavior -- and excused behavior. Your

         25  bill eliminates that defense all together. Now,
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          2  that's a legal back and forth and I don't get hung

          3  up on that.

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: I would substitute, if I

          5  may, an examination by a veterinarian or an animal

          6  behaviorist.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine. You know,

          8  it's like a doctor, he can examine all he wants. I

          9  mean, the point is, and I am not against your bill,

         10  I am carrying it, but I am telling you, start

         11  looking at areas that I have a problem with, and as

         12  the Chairman of this Committee I need to be fair, I

         13  need to understand why we are doing something.

         14                 Current laws, hearings, pre-dangerous

         15  dog determination hearings, that's currently. The

         16  current bill says Commissioner of the Department

         17  expert determines dangerous dogs and then there is

         18  an opportunity for owner to prove the dog is not

         19  dangerous.

         20                 But the fact is that currently,

         21  through this hearing, though, that you can make that

         22  decision, you can make that ruling, there is nothing

         23  new. But your bill says the burden now is on the

         24  owner. That is what I think it says here.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: To merely object and then
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          2  we have to afford the opportunity to be heard.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But they object

          4  after you determine that. Today, even though you

          5  determine it, the person still has a right to a

          6  hearing, that's all I am saying.

          7                 Okay, advisory board. Well, let me

          8  just say this, the way I understand it, okay? And I

          9  need to look at the functions and I heard what you

         10  said, Commissioner Neal Cohen, about if you pass

         11  this law there is no need for it.

         12                 Well, if I understand correctly,

         13  three appointees by the Mayor, three appointees by

         14  the Council, and what was the rest? Okay, tell me

         15  why I should do away with my three Council

         16  appointees? Other than if you pass my bill then

         17  there is no need for them; do you understand?

         18                 Penalties: You know you are jumping

         19  from 500 minimum to 5,000; maximum, you are really

         20  going from $1,000 to $10,000 first, $2,000 to

         21  $20,000 second, $5,000 to $50,000 third, and then

         22  there are other things, including jail.

         23                 And last the insurance questions, but

         24  I still have some, and I am not a lawyer, some

         25  serious questions, but those are the things that I
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          2  need to have you begin to address, okay?

          3                 Council Member Clarke.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman. I think that when we start looking at

          6  dogs, we start getting an emotional component of

          7  those who have dogs as pets, dogs for protection,

          8  dogs for so many different things, and I am glad

          9  that we are not going to vote on this bill today

         10  because I don't know where I would come down on it.

         11                 But I want to give you three

         12  scenarios just for you to tell me how you would

         13  handle it, how it would be characterized so that I

         14  will get a sense of your definition of a dangerous

         15  dog.

         16                 In Ditmas Park, I am using my

         17  district always, in one of my nice, what I consider

         18  my landmarked houses, somebody didn't get ADT to put

         19  in an alarm but bought a dog. And the dog is there

         20  all day while they go to work, and bang, bang,

         21  somebody broke the window, jumped in to take out the

         22  nice antique furniture, and the dog decides to do

         23  his own collar, and so the person's arm is torn off,

         24  as they picked up the antique vase, and you are then

         25  caught because the person is in the hospital, the
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          2  arm is off and they said a dangerous dog did this to

          3  me.

          4                 Scenario number two, on East 17th

          5  Street and Church Avenue, there are a number of

          6  people there that never do what is right, but they

          7  didn't want to have a gunplay so they bought a

          8  number of Pit Bulls and they trained them to protect

          9  their stuff. And so the other guys come and want to

         10  come into the territory and the Pit Bulls are let go

         11  and the Pit Bulls knocked somebody down, cut their

         12  throat and did what they were to do, somebody else

         13  got hurt, also went to Kings County and said I was

         14  attacked by a dangerous dog.

         15                 And thirdly, somebody in Crown

         16  Heights has a dog that, quote, we consider a normal

         17  pet, under normal circumstances would be kissing

         18  everybody and doing all of what nice pets do,

         19  however, somebody just had a baby and the dog is now

         20  jealous that I am not getting all the attention and

         21  therefore I am going to go to the crib and I am

         22  going to take this baby out.

         23                 Something happened in all three

         24  scenarios. Under this bill, what would be your

         25  action for all three of those scenarios, short of a
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          2  real definition of what is a dangerous dog?

          3                 Because three things happened, all of

          4  which resulted in something that was harmful. Maybe

          5  two of those, I would be saying to the dog well done

          6  dog, and faithful servant, and on the other one I

          7  may be saying, shame on you, you should have been

          8  able to share affection.

          9                 Tell me, how would you handle those?

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, understanding I am

         11  not the one who makes these determinations, but I

         12  think that there are some relevant distinctions to

         13  be made.

         14                 Under scenario one, which is the

         15  burglar breaking in, and the third one, the baby in

         16  the crib, I think those are good examples of how the

         17  current law presents a problem. Both of those things

         18  may be provocation to the dog. However, I think they

         19  would lead to radically different conclusions.

         20                 I think in an opportunity to be heard

         21  where all the facts are laid out, scenario number

         22  one where the dog is perhaps attacking a burglar who

         23  intrudes onto an apartment, a private dwelling,

         24  would be treated radically different than the dog

         25  that jumps into a crib or rips a baby's arm off for
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          2  pulling its tail. That latter kind of behavior is

          3  dangerous to the public health, while the

          4  opportunity to be heard affords the ability to make

          5  that distinction. And those two I think are real

          6  good examples of why the provocation is not the way

          7  to figure these things out.

          8                 As to the second example, I think

          9  getting Pit Bulls to protect your property, and as I

         10  understood it this was on the street --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: No, no,

         12  protecting the territory. The not so nice stuff that

         13  you sell in the street.

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Right. That is what I

         15  thought you were referring to. I think that is a

         16  scenario, and especially where you release a dog

         17  that has been in effect trained to be vicious in the

         18  public arena. That dog is probably inherently

         19  dangerous. It has been trained to be vicious, and

         20  that I would imagine would be the overriding

         21  concern, there is probably nothing that can be done

         22  to make that dog safe to be out in public, I would

         23  think.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilwoman, I

         25  think the only difference between what our proposed
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          2  law, Intro. 214, and the way the current procedure

          3  is done, is that we eliminate the provocation -- in

          4  the examples you gave we eliminate the provocation

          5  as an excused behavior because I think your own

          6  example makes it very clear that there is no reason

          7  that either circumstance in and of itself should be

          8  dominant in determining the dangerousness of that

          9  dog, that it needs to be an assessment made by a

         10  veterinarian or trained certified animal

         11  behaviorist, so that the true dangerousness of the

         12  dog can be recognized and reported to the

         13  Commissioner, without excusing the dog on the basis

         14  of one action or another action that we might have a

         15  debate about whether it was sufficient provocation.

         16                 And then in all instances the dog's

         17  potential for inflicting harm on the public will be

         18  evaluated by people who are knowledgeable, trained

         19  and able to make those determinations and make

         20  recommendations to the Commissioner, so that it does

         21  not create a circumstance where there is

         22  automatically a predetermined resolution that does

         23  not consider and weigh all the circumstances that

         24  are environmental, as well as those that are in the

         25  constitution of the dog itself.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I would like,

          3  Commissioner, for my own study and understanding of

          4  the issues, if you would clarify, or at least give

          5  us a number of definitions of a dangerous dog so

          6  that when I am looking at the scenario and what your

          7  action would be, what the penalties would be for

          8  different scenarios, I can weigh in clearer just

          9  exactly what you are asking us to do, what we are

         10  promoting, what we are voting on, what we are

         11  supporting, one. Because I have my own sense of

         12  where you are probably taking us. However, I am

         13  almost sure that animal advocates are going to have

         14  a different definition and scenario for what it is

         15  you want to do, especially when we look at "cruelty

         16  to animal" and whether it is from that side or our

         17  side, how we come down on the right side to protect

         18  the public good and to make sure that public safety

         19  is the bottom line that we are talking about.

         20                 Because in the scenario that I gave

         21  you, there is just one set of those dogs that I

         22  wouldn't care what the police did to and I wouldn't

         23  care what the owner had to say to me about what

         24  happened, so just based on that.

         25                 I thank you, Mr. Chairman, and hope
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          2  that as we do deliberation I understand more of what

          3  we are asked to do, that we will do further

          4  hearings.

          5                 Thank you very much, Commissioner.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          8  Reed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 Commissioner, it's a pleasure to see

         12  you. Perhaps uncharacteristically this is the sort

         13  of issue that I would rather stay away from. I don't

         14  own a pet. It is just closest to getting involved

         15  with people and their children and how they raise

         16  them, it's a difficult issue. I witness several

         17  television cameras that are here to cover an issue,

         18  so obviously there is some concern out there in the

         19  community about it, and I recognize that your staff

         20  has got to try to resolve this issue.

         21                 So, I don't envy you. I am not sure

         22  how I would weigh in on this legislation and I am

         23  sure we are going to hear a lot from dog and pet

         24  owners today, as we should.

         25                 So, I am trying to understand this
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          2  issue. East Harlem and the South Bronx and other

          3  parts of the district that I represent are other

          4  neighborhoods that are plagued often times with

          5  dangerous dogs being used for protection or because

          6  the young men thing that this is a macho thing to

          7  do, and there are parts of my district that I am

          8  apprehensive about walking through because I am

          9  aware of the fact that there are those kind of

         10  animals out there, and experience not firsthand but

         11  almost firsthand the police themselves being afraid

         12  to get out of a car after being called about that

         13  because the dog was between them and the people and

         14  they didn't know what to do, and then the neighbors

         15  got upset that the police stayed in the car. Well, I

         16  don't blame them.

         17                 So, it's a very complicated issue, as

         18  is what is the proper behavior for children and

         19  animals and all of that mixture.

         20                 The thing that I am concerned about

         21  and don't want to delay these hearings a great deal

         22  because I know there is a lot of other people to

         23  testify, and I would ask respectfully of the Chair

         24  that perhaps in what I am about to talk about, that

         25  we may want to look at that again.
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          2                 But I am reading your report here,

          3  Commissioner, and your testimony and you are saying

          4  that during Fiscal Year '96 we had 693 biting dogs

          5  were held by the CACC and the next year we had 892,

          6  which was virtually a 200-dog increase. That is a

          7  huge increase. Now, did the incidents go up? Are you

          8  still holding the original 693 and you just had 200

          9  more cases because we haven't resolved the issue, or

         10  what's up?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: To the best of my

         12  knowledge, those are not duplications. Those

         13  represent different dogs who are held and received

         14  within different fiscal years. So, I think what we

         15  have here is an increase in the number of serious

         16  bites that have taken place in the City, which is

         17  really driving the Administration to bring this

         18  proposal before you today.

         19                 We had some concerns about the way

         20  that some of the dog bites had been counted in

         21  previous years and we have a better computerized

         22  system in place in the last couple of years than we

         23  had previously, so it is difficult to draw any great

         24  conclusion of numbers of dog bites.

         25                 Again, 7,000 to 9,000 bites, a range
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          2  of 600 to 900 dogs that are held, shows that we are

          3  exercising a lot of discretion in only bringing for

          4  -- in only holding about ten percent or 12 percent

          5  of animals that are biters. And across the nation it

          6  has been fairly consistent that we have the CDC

          7  reported 4.7 million people who were bitten

          8  seriously last year, which is about 1.8 percent of

          9  the population, so this is a pretty serious problem

         10  throughout the country.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, I guess

         12  what I am trying to get at, and we may not have time

         13  to have all of the answers, two things:

         14                 Maybe I need to reread this

         15  testimony, which I will, but I don't understand the

         16  disposition of the 693 cases or the dogs that you

         17  are holding, what happens, and then so we have an

         18  increase, so that means there is more enforcement.

         19                 I am also troubled, and I don't know

         20  if this report says or if you could even tell me,

         21  what ultimately you did, and perhaps not today, with

         22  the 693 dogs? But as I read this report I am

         23  reminded that the Center for Animal Care and

         24  Control, at least in Manhattan, is also in my

         25  district on 111th Street, and it is the same Center
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          2  for Animal and Control Disease that was on the front

          3  cover of New York magazine discussing the horrors of

          4  the care and maintenance there. And I am frankly

          5  frightened at the idea that a dog that we might put

          6  in there because we are going to evaluate their

          7  behavior, by the time out of there I would probably

          8  be crazy too.

          9                 So, I am trying -- and I am not

         10  trying to say this at your expense, I mean we have

         11  got enormous amount of health issues to deal with,

         12  but I think the Chair spoke to it too, we may not be

         13  able to separate out all of those issues.

         14                 So, I would ask you, and perhaps if

         15  you don't have the answer today that would be fine,

         16  as I have asked in the past, and still looking for

         17  answers, if you could let me know and through this

         18  chair, of course, and Committee, so what was the

         19  disposition of those 693 cases in 1996?

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you. Before

         22  I call the distinguished former Chairman of this

         23  Committee, because we are about, and tomorrow the

         24  Mayor will be proposing at least the Preliminary

         25  Budget, and as you know, Commissioner, there are
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          2  outstanding issues that you and I will have to

          3  wrestle, among them again is, when you talk about

          4  enforcement and you talk about laws, you need the

          5  bodies because paper is good, but without the

          6  resources that go with it, it's meaningless.

          7                 As you know, if I remember correctly,

          8  at least on the issues that we have raised, I think

          9  your total inspectors in your agency is about 90, if

         10  I remember correctly the hearing. And as you know,

         11  we are going to be dealing with the restaurant and

         12  all of these other things, and one of the things we

         13  are going to be going, moving forward is about how

         14  do you enforce, how do you carry out your functions

         15  when you don't have the personnel to do it?

         16                 Now, taking that into consideration,

         17  since I believe this bill says the reason why we are

         18  doing away with it is because we are going to have

         19  professional individuals who are either trained to

         20  determine whether these dogs are vicious or not,

         21  that means you have to then bring on new people.

         22                 Tell me, Commissioner, if this bill

         23  right now was to accomplish, would you be able to do

         24  it with your current existing staff? And what will

         25  be the financial impact on your Department if this
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          2  bill goes through?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The immediate

          4  first question is that we would be able to respond

          5  with existing staff. We have veterinarians currently

          6  and we have animal behaviorists who are able to

          7  provide us with consultation on evaluations of these

          8  dogs who have bitten and so what we have here in

          9  this proposed legislation is no increased volume

         10  necessarily because all of the dog bites that have

         11  been inflicted are evaluated by the Department of

         12  Health personnel currently, unless there is an

         13  upsurge in the number of bites very dramatically. We

         14  feel we have solid, professional expertise in making

         15  the evaluations and recommendations to the

         16  Commissioner, and this legislation would not change

         17  therefore the staffing and the professionalism of

         18  that team.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, tell me,

         20  how many do you have currently in the Department of

         21  Health? And I am talking about those individuals

         22  that you say you have, and since if I follow what

         23  Council Member Reed was saying when the question was

         24  that we started at 600, it went up to 800, when does

         25  the number exceed, and you have to then say, you
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          2  know, in order to keep up -- because I believe you

          3  do a planning so that if a stat, your stat says that

          4  those numbers are growing then I guess you must

          5  plan, and I guess since we are getting ready for the

          6  budget process I want to throw that out too.

          7                 So, let's start with how many people

          8  right now you have in your agency? And are these

          9  people, are they located at Worth, or are they

         10  located at these centers?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have five

         12  licensed veterinarians who work with us on these

         13  determinations. One of them is full-time and there

         14  are four who are different part-time range of

         15  participation and they are very much in the field

         16  and making determinations, both at the shelters, as

         17  well as responding to other invitations that we make

         18  to dog owners to bring their dogs to environments

         19  where we can carry out these evaluations.

         20                 It would be very -- we do not have an

         21  issue before, a budgetary issue at this juncture,

         22  Chairman. Of course if the number of bites required

         23  a significant expansion in the productivity of the

         24  Bureau of Veterinary Public Health Services, you

         25  know, we would then seek appropriate staffing
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          2  enhancements.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I just want to

          4  make sure that I follow the question that Council

          5  Member Reed proposed, and again, I can't tell you do

          6  this, do that, and not be willing to help you. I

          7  want to be clear.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I appreciate

          9  that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If everyone is

         11  saying there is a concern and need to address,

         12  because bites are growing, and in '97, 7,000. But as

         13  you broke it down, in '96, we are talking about 600,

         14  when Councilman Reed asked you, you said in '97 it

         15  was up to 800 and you said it is growing. I just

         16  want to get an idea.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: How many centers

         19  do we have right now currently? Not the Department

         20  of Health because you contract out now, but do we

         21  have four locations with Brooklyn taking Staten

         22  Island which is normally, or do we have five

         23  centers? And then if we have five centers, you are

         24  saying that in the Department of Health, in the

         25  bureau, that means for the most part with one
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          2  part-time and -- I mean, one full-time and four

          3  part-time, and you are saying they are out, where

          4  does the full-time get assigned to, and like the

          5  Medical Examiner and before you, and I was around,

          6  and all of a sudden you had part-time Medical

          7  Examiners and people wanted to know why when someone

          8  died there used to be three and four and five and

          9  six and ten hours waiting for a part-time examiner,

         10  and we have addressed that collectively, and I don't

         11  hear that kind of complaint like I used to. Again,

         12  if we are going to deal with the issues, then we

         13  also need to, because it is my contention if we do

         14  pass this bill, and it becomes law, I don't believe

         15  you can keep up with the numbers you have used in

         16  your testimony with the one full-time and four

         17  part-times when you have how many centers, sir?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There are five

         19  all together.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Five.

         21                 Let me tell you something, since I

         22  come from Brooklyn, how many of those dogs and

         23  vicious dogs, the dogs that bit somebody when the

         24  police, you name it, happened to be in Brooklyn, and

         25  because you got so many you are spilling from the
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          2  seams? Do you have any idea?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I can't give you

          4  a borough breakdown. Obviously if we are holding

          5  890, it becomes almost three a day. We have

          6  productivity that has to deal with that.

          7                 Let me just say, because I know that

          8  you are asking a question because you are raising a

          9  concern about the ability of the Department to be

         10  able to provide the services that would be demanded

         11  by this legislation, but it's my view, and I feel

         12  very strongly, that this legislation, because of the

         13  increased accountability and responsibility that it

         14  places on the dog owner to monitor and ensure that

         15  the dog is not a dangerous and vicious dog, because

         16  of the increased liability that it would be imposed

         17  by the requirement for insurance coverage, et

         18  cetera, if anything I would believe that we would

         19  see very quickly a reduction in the number of dog

         20  bites in this city because dog owners would

         21  recognize the consequences of harboring and caring

         22  for dogs that would have those dangerous tendencies

         23  and really would not -- in the majority of instances

         24  I am sure that dog owners would not find that

         25  acceptable for themselves or to harbor a dog that
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          2  had that constitution and would seek another remedy

          3  to that.

          4                 So, enacting this legislation doesn't

          5  drive up the number of dog bites, I think it goes

          6  clearly in the opposite direction.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And let me tell

          8  you where I am coming from, because pretty soon

          9  there are I believe -- some time next month this

         10  Committee will have on its agenda four bills

         11  introduced by Council Member Freed of a service for

         12  dog owners, which is the spay/neuter bill. And what

         13  I am trying to get at is that there are services

         14  where dog owners are told if you go to these

         15  locations you could do the following: If what I see

         16  on television and the complaints that I see about

         17  how we are keeping up with the services at those

         18  locations, my concern is you may address one area

         19  but that has not yet addresses other areas that in

         20  my opinion are important also. Because it also helps

         21  control the services and animals and what have you.

         22                 So, again, I can't believe that your

         23  agency, and I must tell you that I am not

         24  comfortable. For example, I am not comfortable that

         25  all the laws that we passed and are on the books and
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          2  only 90 inspectors Citywide, impossible to keep up

          3  with the complaints in the City of New York of the

          4  overall mission of the Department of Health, it just

          5  happens to be a component of the overall. So I just

          6  want to be clear on that.

          7                 Council Member Povman.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 I just want to raise an actual

         11  situation and what can be done to deal with it,

         12  because there seems to be some difficulty with the

         13  Police Department in dealing with dog problems.

         14                 In Central Queens, it was within the

         15  107 Precinct, there were two dogs that for several

         16  weeks were harassing people, attacking people and

         17  several people were bitten. The police were called,

         18  they had no tranquilizing equipment, they had no

         19  training in tranquilizing, all they had were guns.

         20  The police policy was to call another unit that did

         21  have the equipment, but by the time that that unit

         22  got there, these dogs are not waiting, they are

         23  roaming around the neighborhood menacing people for

         24  several weeks. And the question is what can be done

         25  in terms of police training so that they can deal
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          2  with an animal?

          3                 You know, every time a cop shoots a

          4  gun there is a danger created because they could

          5  have a ricocheting bullet, you can have somebody

          6  really getting hurt and the Captain of the Precinct

          7  says that his orders to his men are not to shoot

          8  under those circumstances that they are just roaming

          9  around.

         10                 So, I am just wondering what type of

         11  training can the Police Department be given in order

         12  to deal with roaming dogs and not being able to

         13  really get attention to them because they are not

         14  remaining in one place?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, why

         16  don't you also have the Police Department come and

         17  join you, because after you answer what you believe,

         18  the Department of Health, I think the question is --

         19  which I am glad the Chairperson of Public Safety is

         20  here, again, because the budget is coming around --

         21  the question is, when police are called to respond,

         22  and they must act upon these vicious dogs, do they

         23  have the equipment rather than the guns? And if that

         24  is the case, I would like besides you the Police

         25  Department answer that too, so as we move along with
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          2  hearings, maybe the Chairman of Public Safety can

          3  get every police car the kind of equipment they need

          4  to address it so that we protect the men and women,

          5  the finest of New York City.

          6                 Commissioner.

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I will defer it

          8  to the Police Department to respond.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But the

         10  Councilman wanted to know what kind of training as a

         11  professional, as the Chief Health advocate, what

         12  possible training is it that the police should be

         13  looking at?

         14                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Okay, thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman. Thank you for your support, and we agree

         16  that more training is always helpful.  And I am

         17  joined today by Detective Boiselle, who is the

         18  Coordinator for the Police Department when it comes

         19  to canine apprehension. She over the course of the

         20  last several years has been involved with training

         21  both officers who have been involved in dog

         22  incidents, and the police population in general in

         23  training us how to deal with vicious dogs and how to

         24  address this situation while maintaining public

         25  safety.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 I would like to have her give a

          3  little description of what she does on a regular

          4  basis and I will be happy to assist you in any other

          5  questions that may arise.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The first thing I

          7  would like to do is, would you be so kind to provide

          8  this Committee, and the Committee on Public Safety,

          9  the protocol of this training so that we can see

         10  what kind of training we are offering the Police

         11  Department. And since this is this hearing, and

         12  since the issue was raised by you in this hearing,

         13  although I defer it to my distinguished colleague, I

         14  have an obligation to follow through, since I am a

         15  member of this Committee, so that when he perhaps

         16  gets bogged down with other things of the Police

         17  Department, I will keep reminding him about the

         18  vicious dogs and the equipment; how is that?

         19                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: It's the benefit of

         20  meeting on both committees, sir, no problem.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do you have a

         22  protocol with respect to this education?

         23                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: How we train the

         24  officers on this?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes.
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          2                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Can you provide

          4  this Committee and Public Safety with that protocol,

          5  please?

          6                 SERGEANT TUFFEY: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

          8                 DETECTIVE BOISSELLE: Good afternoon.

          9  Detective Boisselle, New York City Police

         10  Department, Canine Apprehension.

         11                 Currently in the past several years

         12  we have been addressed with the situation of

         13  addressing the dangerous dogs and vicious animals

         14  out in the street where we have had, as New York

         15  City police officers, calling upon emergency

         16  services unit, which then would respond by

         17  ketosetting or darting an animal, which to note,

         18  they are the only unit in the whole City that has

         19  that equipment at this moment in time.

         20                 A police officer out in the street,

         21  currently we have found where teaching in tactics,

         22  whether responding out in the public or whether it

         23  be in someone's home or private area where they can

         24  respond, we do have the shield that each radio car

         25  is equipped with where they can put it between the
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          2  person and the animal or the public and the animal

          3  until the emergency service does come.

          4                 Technically, at that point if the

          5  animal is vicious enough that it does need to be

          6  darted, a police uniform responding there is not

          7  equipped with that, because ketoset as it is used is

          8  a controlled substance. It is licensed by veterinary

          9  and the only people that do have that is the

         10  emergency service unit, every time an animal is

         11  darted it is calculated how much is used for each

         12  animal. This way, since the mass majority of the New

         13  York City Police Department cannot have it out on

         14  patrol, but where we do have officers trained as for

         15  how to handle a situation in the street, whether it

         16  be mild, because if it is too serious they will turn

         17  and call emergency service.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: I gave you a

         19  situation where dogs are roaming around, the

         20  Emergency Medical Service that has the equipment,

         21  they come to the scene where they are called and the

         22  dogs are gone, so how are they eventually going to

         23  get to the point where they are going to be able to

         24  catch those dogs if the police that are on the scene

         25  with the dogs, they can't restrain them in any way
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          2  short of shooting them, how do they handle that?

          3                 DETECTIVE BOISSELLE: Basically in all

          4  honesty what we try to do is -- if the animal is out

          5  on the street and is roaming, as it is known, we are

          6  there to enforce, we are not the dog catchers. We

          7  will over the radio call for the Center for Animal

          8  Care Control who does have trucks dispatched within

          9  the five boroughs and they will be called.

         10                 If the animal is in a non-vicious

         11  mode at this point, the police officer on patrol

         12  will try to contain the animal and try to get it to

         13  a position where it can be in a contained area,

         14  until animal control comes with a noose to be able

         15  to catch the animals, or their policy of putting

         16  possible traps out. If it is a stray animal, the

         17  animal is out there, it is not belonging to someone

         18  which makes it a little bit harder, they are out for

         19  food, the neighborhood is feeding them, so it does

         20  make things a little bit harder. They travel in

         21  packs.

         22                 So they will put out traps down the

         23  road, we will assist them in that, in checking the

         24  traps, if the animals are in there periodically

         25  every day they may be able to get them. If the
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          2  animal is non-vicious, we will basically try to get

          3  it into an area contained so someone can come like

          4  animal control or if need be emergency services.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, let

          7  me just ask you a question from what I just heard.

          8                 When I grew up in this City, I

          9  remember and I still see them, I don't see them as

         10  often as I used to, but I remember that the ASPCA

         11  car, that they would go out and give summonses, for

         12  example, the "pooper scooper", if we still have that

         13  law, now the leash, what have you, and it is not

         14  only the Police Department, it is also these

         15  officers, who are also carrying guns, and I believe

         16  under our laws they are defined as peace officer or

         17  special patrolman or something like that, but they

         18  are the ones who basically the community at large

         19  always are thought upon as those who really are

         20  there to protect not only the dogs but that kind of

         21  scenario. Are they still in effect?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In fact the

         23  Center for Animal Care and Control does do daily

         24  round-ups throughout all neighborhoods, so there

         25  continues to be that surveillance on vigilance. On
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          2  dogs that are roaming that are not leashed that have

          3  the potential to pose a danger to the public safety,

          4  so in fact we have maintained that kind of vigilance

          5  throughout the City.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I must tell you

          7  that I don't see them in North Brooklyn, so they may

          8  be some place else, so again, let me ask you a

          9  simple question then. How many of those --

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: If I can just say

         11  one other.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I need to be

         13  clear, because I am leading to something.

         14                 Are they the officers under the law,

         15  under the health laws and what have you, they are

         16  the ones who go around also helping the Police

         17  Department to enforce all of the health laws, i.e.

         18  that deals with dogs, whether it is besides vicious

         19  but it is also the leash, it is also the pooper

         20  scooper, it is any of those kind of things; is that

         21  fair to say?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, a variety of

         23  responsibilities.

         24                 I was reminded just before that the

         25  ASPCA in fact still maintains the public safety
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          2  function as well, and there are field agents who are

          3  looking as well as the CACC shelter --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But they exist

          5  under somebody's jurisdiction, isn't that the

          6  Department of Health? Isn't there a contract?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: With the CACC,

          8  yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, who is the

         10  CACC? Aren't they contracted with you?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, they are.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, isn't the

         13  Department of Health the key lead agency when it

         14  comes to this thing?

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Maybe I

         17  thought it was somewhere else.

         18                 How many are in the contract, whether

         19  it is CACC, ASPCA, CACC? How many do we have totally

         20  in the City of New York?

         21                 Just identify yourself for the

         22  record.

         23                 MR. MANSFIELD: My name is Douglas

         24  Mansfield, I am the General Counsel for the Center

         25  for Animal Care and Control.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, you are

          3  General Counsel to that center, now are you a

          4  Department of Health employee, or you are part of

          5  the contract that you are a civilian?

          6                 MR. MANSFIELD: I am an employee of

          7  the Center for Animal Care and Control.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So you are not an

          9  employer of the City of New York?

         10                 MR. MANSFIELD: No, I am not.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, I just

         12  wanted to make sure o the difference. Go ahead.

         13                 MR. MANSFIELD: Actually, the ASPCA

         14  has retained, when there was a transfer over from

         15  the ASPCA to the Center for Animal Care and Control

         16  which retained law enforcement capabilities. That

         17  law enforcement capability is through state law, it

         18  is not through the contract with the City of New

         19  York.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, good. The

         21  question is, how many of them are there? And where

         22  are they? Because if Councilman Povman in Queens and

         23  Forest Hills sees them, I am going to tell you

         24  something, I see them in Bushwick, I see them in

         25  Williamsburg, I see then in Bed Stuy, I see them. It
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          2  doesn't mean they are all dangerous dogs. How many

          3  of those do we have?

          4                 MR. MANSFIELD: I cannot speak for the

          5  ASPCA.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You cannot speak

          7  to the ASPCA.

          8                 How about your center? You have none

          9  at all?

         10                 MR. MANSFIELD: We have just started a

         11  program through the Administrative -- actually it is

         12  called special patrol, and we have two individuals

         13  right now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, but the

         15  contract with the ASPCA is directly with you? And

         16  you with the Department of Health, or is that

         17  contract directly with the Department of Health?

         18                 MR. MANSFIELD: No. The Center has a

         19  contract with the Department of Health to perform

         20  animal control functions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right. The ASPCA

         22  --

         23                 MR. MANSFIELD: The ASPCA has no

         24  contract with the City of New York. They have law

         25  enforcement capabilities through state law.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine. Okay,

          3  all right. Okay. Okay, thank you.

          4                 Is there anybody else?

          5                 Commissioner, would you do me a

          6  favor? Would you have -- who is staying behind?

          7  Because I want you to hear testimony, especially on

          8  the bills, but 214, so that we have an idea of what

          9  the general public's concerns also are. Can you tell

         10  me who you are keeping behind?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Our staff from

         12  the Bureau of Veterinary Public Health Services will

         13  be here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         15                 I always give the last word to you,

         16  sir, as you know, as a courtesy. If you have any

         17  closing remarks, I welcome your comments at this

         18  point.

         19                 But before you do that, let me say I

         20  want to thank you for coming. I look forward to

         21  working with you on a one-to-one and others so that

         22  we finally deal with concerns, issues and then

         23  perhaps come with a bill that is at least acceptable

         24  to everyone's concerns; how is that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you.
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          2                 I appreciate your fairness in hearing

          3  this today. You know, clearly this is an issue of

          4  concern of public health and safety, as well as to

          5  the rights of dog owners.

          6                 Naturally we need to strike the right

          7  balance between the rights of individuals and the

          8  rights of citizens to be protected from potentially

          9  dangerous animals. And I believe that this bill that

         10  we put forward today goes a long way toward making

         11  it much better than it has been previously to

         12  protect the rights of citizens.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

         15  Commissioner. Again, I look forward to working with

         16  you, as in the past.

         17                 Commissioner, thank you, it was also

         18  good seeing. I am going to see whether at the Public

         19  Safety that issue gets raised. Hows that?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         22                 The Counsel to the Committee will

         23  call out the names that have signed up. If you have

         24  not signed up, please see the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         25                 Let me also again point out that
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          2  signing up is on either legislation before us, 359

          3  or Intro. 214. Any other subject matter you should

          4  wait until the proper hearing, this is not the time

          5  for that. So, those are the dangerous dog bills

          6  which are before us.

          7                 MR. ORENGO: Elinor Molbegott, Lisa

          8  Wesiberg, and Avrama Gingold. Please take your

          9  seats.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And would you be

         11  so kind to take all discussions out of Chamber? The

         12  hearing is not over, and as a courtesy, like the

         13  public, lets give the same courtesy to the public in

         14  listening to them. And would you just sit down, the

         15  three of you. The Sergeant-At-Arms will take that.

         16                 And then what I want you to do as you

         17  each begin, would you please again identify yourself

         18  for the record and then proceed.

         19                 So, you give your name and who you

         20  are representing. And anybody else who gets called

         21  up, will you do us a favor, if you have written

         22  testimony, it is very important, so we will keep it

         23  for the record, and as you come up give it to the

         24  Sergeant-At-Arms, please.

         25                 Why don't we just start. I don't care
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          2  how, this way or that way, why don't we just begin.

          3                 MS. MOLBEGOTT: My name is Elinor

          4  Molbegott, I am legal counsel to the Human Society

          5  of New York.

          6                 To my immediate left if Susan

          7  Richmond, who is Executive Director of the Humane

          8  Society of New York.

          9                 The Humane Society of New York thanks

         10  the Committee on Health for the opportunity to

         11  testify today regarding the legislation pertaining

         12  to dangerous dogs. We share the Mayor's concern

         13  about dangerous dogs, no one wants dangerous dogs

         14  threatening our safety and the safety of our loved

         15  ones. Reasonable laws and regulations to address

         16  dangerous dogs are necessary in all municipalities.

         17                 However, we need to ensure that in

         18  our zeal to protect public safety, legislation is

         19  not passed that is so overbroad that it removes

         20  basic constitutional right and subjects innocent

         21  people with non-dangerous dogs, as well as the

         22  non-dangerous dogs themselves, to punitive

         23  reprisals.

         24                 We have three main concerns with

         25  Intro. No. 214. First, the definition of dangerous
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          2  dogs in Intro. No. 214 includes dogs who bite or

          3  menace a person in a dangerous manner, even if such

          4  dog is provoked.

          5                 Under current New York City and New

          6  York State Law, a dog cannot be held to be dangerous

          7  if it is shown that the dog was provoked into acting

          8  in a dangerous manner. Thus, under existing law, if

          9  a dog bites a burglar, the dog cannot be deemed

         10  dangerous for attempting to stop the burglarly.

         11                 Similarly, if a neighbor kicks a dog

         12  and the dog bites or acts in a menacing manner after

         13  the kick, under current law the dog cannot be held

         14  to be dangerous. More specifically, New York City

         15  law now provides that no dog shall be declared

         16  dangerous if the threat, injury or damage caused by

         17  such dog was sustained by a person who at the time

         18  was committing a willful trespass or other tort upon

         19  the premises occupied by the owner of the dog, or

         20  was tormenting, abusing or assaulting the dog or has

         21  in the past been observed or reported to have

         22  tormented, abused or assaulted the dog, or was

         23  committing or attempting to commit a crime.

         24                 Nor shall any dog be declared

         25  dangerous if it was responding to pain or injury or
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          2  is protecting itself, its kennels or its off-spring.

          3                 If the trespass is determined to be

          4  of an innocent nature, the Commissioner may,

          5  depending upon the circumstances, find the dog to be

          6  dangerous.

          7                 While reasonable dangerous dog laws

          8  and regulations are needed in all municipalities, it

          9  is not reasonable for burglars to have more rights

         10  than pet owners and pets. It is not reasonable to

         11  declare dogs dangerous who bite in response to being

         12  abused. Why should the dog and the dog's owner be

         13  punished when the dog acted in a reasonable manner

         14  in response to circumstances? It simply makes no

         15  sense to remove the provocation and excused behavior

         16  provisions under existing law.

         17                 Second, Intro. No. 214 allows the dog

         18  to be declared dangerous without a hearing. In terms

         19  of due process, all the bill provides is that the

         20  owner of the dog may apply for a hearing to the

         21  Commissioner within two days after service of the

         22  Commissioner's order, if the owner objects to the

         23  Commissioner's findings.

         24                 There is no guarantee that the

         25  hearing will be granted.
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          2                 Further, the dog owner must pay the

          3  expenses for the care of the dog while in the City's

          4  custody, even if the dog owner objects to the

          5  findings, even if the dog bit a burglar, perhaps

          6  even if the dog is ultimately determined not to be

          7  dangerous.

          8                 In making a determination of whether

          9  a dog is dangerous, not only is a hearing not

         10  required, but it is not even required that records

         11  of witness statements, police incident reports,

         12  victim medical records and veterinary examination

         13  reports to verify the facts and circumstances be

         14  procured under this bill. It is an option.

         15                 Allows a dog declared dangerous under

         16  Intro. No. 214, regardless of whether or not the dog

         17  was provoked, regardless of whether the owner had a

         18  hearing to present his or side of the facts and

         19  regardless of whether the City obtains thorough

         20  documentation about the incident.

         21                 While it is important to seriously

         22  address the dangerous dog problem, it must be done

         23  in a reasonable and constitutional manner, that does

         24  not jeopardize the rights of the dog owners and the

         25  lives of dogs.
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          2                 In this regard, it is important to

          3  note that the New York State Legislature enacted a

          4  comprehensive dangerous dog law in 1997, which

          5  became effective in September of 1998. For the first

          6  time, much of the State's dangerous dog law is

          7  applicable to New York City.

          8                 The state law entitles dog owners to

          9  a hearing before a dog is declared dangerous. As

         10  this state law now applies to New York City, its

         11  provisions must be adhered to.

         12                 Intro. No. 214 is in direct conflict

         13  with state law.

         14                 Third, Intro. No. 214 requires owners

         15  of Pit Bull dogs and owners of dogs who have been

         16  found to be dangerous to obtain liability insurance.

         17  For Pit Bull owners, the insurance is required even

         18  if the dog has not been declared dangerous.

         19                 The new state dangerous dog law

         20  allows municipalities to adopt their own dangerous

         21  dog programs, but the law specifically states that

         22  no such program shall regulate such dogs in a manner

         23  that is specific as to breed. Thus, we seriously

         24  question the legality of the Pit Bull provisions in

         25  Intro. No. 214.
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          2                 We also have concerns about the

          3  liability insurance provisions in general. We are

          4  not convinced that such insurance is procurable.

          5                 Under the terms of Intro. No. 214,

          6  dogs found to be dangerous may be killed if the

          7  owners do not obtain the insurance in a short amount

          8  of time after being ordered to do so. Owners of Pit

          9  Bulls are also subject to serious penalties for

         10  violating the insurance procurement provision.

         11                 In conclusion, while the Humane

         12  Society of New York understands and shares the

         13  City's concern about dangerous dogs, we strongly

         14  believe that legislation must be carefully drafted

         15  so that innocent dog owners and non-dangerous dogs

         16  do not get punished unfairly. That will do nothing

         17  for public safety.

         18                 We also believe that more emphasis

         19  needs to be placed on enforcing the state's animal

         20  fighting statute.

         21                 We remain available to work with the

         22  City Council on this issue.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just,

         25  before we go on let me just say this, and I want you
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          2  to listen to this: I want to be clear, I welcome any

          3  advice, direction, especially from your group, with

          4  respect to these two bills. So, as we move ahead,

          5  clearly it is one thing to say -- I instructed the

          6  counsel to communicate with the State Attorney

          7  General, the new one, because clearly whatever

          8  happens, he is going to be the one who has to defend

          9  whatever action we do.

         10                 But I welcome the Humane Society of

         11  New York to take the bill and then make

         12  recommendations of why we should not be pursuing the

         13  course based upon the bill, and then tell us what

         14  are some things that probably still can meet the

         15  concern.

         16                 Clearly you even said there is a

         17  concern, but like I said, define the difference

         18  between the vicious dogs and common household pets.

         19  So, any suggestions, this chair stands ready to

         20  receive and welcome any comment, okay?

         21                 MS. MOLBEGOTT: We appreciate that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I say that to

         23  anyone who testifies today.

         24                 MS. MOLBEGOTT: We appreciate that.

         25  And I personally in my law practice have dealt a lot
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          2  with individuals who have dogs that have been

          3  charged with being dangerous, and the process as it

          4  currently has been functioning is not good for

          5  anybody. It is not good for the City, it is not good

          6  for the dogs or the dog owners, and I would be happy

          7  to work with you and your counsel to develop a

          8  better system.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         10                 Who is next?

         11                 MS. WEISBERG: I am.

         12                 Good afternoon. My name is Lisa

         13  Weisberg, and I am Vice President of Government

         14  Affairs at the ASPCA.

         15                 I would like to thank the Committee

         16  for this opportunity to comment on Intro. 214.

         17                 The ASPCA very much appreciates the

         18  serious concerns surrounding dangerous dogs in New

         19  York City. Indeed training a dog to be dangerous or

         20  allowing such dogs to terrorize our streets violates

         21  numerous local and state laws, and flies in the face

         22  of responsible pet ownership.

         23                 The ASPCA must, however, respectfully

         24  oppose Intro. 214, both on legal and constitutional

         25  grounds, and based on the policies it would
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          2  establish.

          3                 Intro. 214 was introduced on February

          4  26th, 1998. Since then the New York State

          5  Legislature passed and Governor Pataki signed into

          6  law legislation that greatly strengthens the state

          7  dangerous dog law. This new law went into effect on

          8  September 1st, 1998 and it specifically applies to

          9  all municipalities, including those cities of 2

         10  million or more.

         11                 Although it provides that

         12  municipalities are not prevented from adopting their

         13  own program to control dangerous dogs, it requires

         14  that they not be less stringent.

         15                 In doing so, however, any program New

         16  York City decides to implement may not be more

         17  stringent as to violate or conflict with the

         18  provisions set forth under this new law.

         19                 The ASPCA believes that many of the

         20  provisions contained in Intro. 214 do just that.

         21                 The new state law also specifically

         22  prohibits any municipal program from regulating dogs

         23  in a manner that is specific to breed. Despite this

         24  clear mandate, Intro. 214 attempts to regulate the

         25  ownership and harboring of Pit Bulls, or, "Any dog
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          2  which has the appearance and characteristics of

          3  being predominantly of the breed of dogs known as

          4  Staffordshire Bull Terrier, American Pit Bull

          5  Terrier, or American Staffordshire Terrier."

          6                 It does this under section 17-346 by

          7  requiring dog owners to obtain a liability insurance

          8  policy of $100,000 as a prerequisite for applying

          9  for a dog's license to own such a dog in New York

         10  City.

         11                 Furthermore, the catch-all definition

         12  of Pit Bull, i.e. any dog which has the appearance

         13  and characteristics of, is quite vague and would in

         14  all probability be struck down by a court of law.

         15                 Perhaps the most troubling aspects of

         16  Intro. 214 are the proposed elimination of the

         17  hearing process and of the ability of the

         18  Commissioner of Health to deem the dog dangerous,

         19  despite the animal's provocation or the legitimate

         20  behavior of the dog at the time in defending itself,

         21  its owner or its offspring.

         22                 In the interest of time I will just

         23  summarize that the current New York City

         24  Administrative Code, Section 17-342, in order to

         25  deem a dog dangerous the dog must act without
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          2  provocation. And this is consistent with the new

          3  state law which also specifies that the attack or

          4  threat of harm must be done without justification.

          5                 Consistent with Section 17-347 of the

          6  Administrative Code, amended section 121 of the New

          7  York State Agriculture and Markets Law now

          8  recognizes the dog's behavior under certain

          9  circumstances which preclude a dog from being deemed

         10  dangerous. A threat of injury, injury or any damage

         11  caused by a dog to a person would be excused if the

         12  injured person was committing a crime against the

         13  owner such as robbery, rape or murder, or upon the

         14  owner's property, such as willful trespass, burglary

         15  or arson. Both sections 17-347 and 121 also

         16  recognize and excuse the dog's behavior where the

         17  injured person is tormenting, abusing or assaulting

         18  the dog or has done so in the past or where the dog

         19  is responding to pain or injury or was acting to

         20  protect itself, its kennel or offspring.

         21                 By repealing the provisions for

         22  provocations and excused behavior, Intro. 214 would

         23  allow for the following ludicrous situation to

         24  arise.

         25                 A dog could be deemed dangerous and
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          2  ordered by the Commissioner of Health to be

          3  immediately euthanized, while at the same time

          4  cruelty charges and violation of Section 353 of the

          5  State Agriculture and Markets Law are filed against

          6  the injured person who tormented and beat the dog.

          7                 This makes no sense and surely cannot

          8  be the intention of the legislation or of this

          9  Committee.

         10                 This is especially so on the heels of

         11  the New York State Legislature unanimously passing

         12  last session, and the people of this State

         13  overwhelmingly supporting legislation to make such

         14  intention cruelty to a companion animal felony.

         15                 Equally bizarre as the situation

         16  where a dog would be deemed dangerous when in acting

         17  to protect his owner from being raped, it attacks

         18  the person who is committing this terrible crime. We

         19  would hope that this Committee does not see any

         20  merit in this policy shift by sanctioning such a

         21  change.

         22                 Intro. 214's proposed elimination of

         23  the hearing process to fairly and adequately

         24  determine whether or not a dog is truly dangerous is

         25  extremely disturbing and deprives the dog owner of
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          2  his or her due process.

          3                 By allowing any person to simply make

          4  a report to the Commissioner who may thereupon order

          5  the dog owner to make the dog available for an

          6  examination to determine the dog is dangerous, is an

          7  invitation to the public and our neighbors to abuse

          8  this process for reasons having nothing to do with

          9  the dog.

         10                 Furthermore, it is unclear what this

         11  examination consists of and whether it can

         12  adequately and objectively determine the disposition

         13  of the subject dog. Such a procedure falls far short

         14  of a judicial hearing process and of ensuring dog

         15  owners of their due process.

         16                 This procedure also conflicts with,

         17  and the ASPCA believes, violates state law hearing

         18  requirements under section 121 of the Agriculture

         19  and Markets Law. This provision requires a timely

         20  hearing by a municipal judge or justice within five

         21  days and upon written notice of not less than two

         22  days to the owner of the dog, once a complaint is

         23  made.

         24                 This is certainly an improvement over

         25  the currently hearing process under Section 17-345
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          2  of the Administrative Code, while not offending a

          3  person's constitutional rights.

          4                 We would hope that this Committee

          5  does not view such basic protections in the same

          6  light as discussed in the legislative findings and

          7  intent of 214, "cumbersome, unduly costly to

          8  implement, and involving unnecessarily prolonged

          9  hearings."

         10                 Finally, the ASPCA questions current

         11  enforcement by the Department of Health of existing

         12  law and the need for the extremely harsh and

         13  punitive penalties being imposed.

         14                 Intro. 214 states that it has been

         15  six years enforcing the dangerous dog regulations

         16  and that the existing measures for controlling

         17  dangerous dogs has failed to adequately protect the

         18  public from these dogs.

         19                 To our knowledge, the Department has

         20  never created a dangerous dog advisory board as

         21  required under section 17-349, or promulgated

         22  regulations with the advice of the advisory board as

         23  required under section 17-348.

         24                 Although some fine-tuning of the New

         25  York City dangerous dog law may be in order,
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          2  certainly we should implement what has been required

          3  since the enactment of this law in 1991 and give it

          4  a chance to work.

          5                 This would be in addition to the City

          6  fulfilling its obligation to comply with the newly

          7  enacted provisions of the revised state dangerous

          8  dog law.

          9                 Regarding penalties, already Section

         10  17-350 of the New York City Administrative Code

         11  provides for a misdemeanor for anyone who violates

         12  the dangerous dog law, punishable by a fine of

         13  between $500 and $5,000 or by imprisonment of up to

         14  one year or both.

         15                 Although more severe than the state

         16  penalty provisions under Section 212 of the

         17  Agriculture and Markets Law, presumably Section

         18  17-350 provisions would apply as being more

         19  stringent and not in violation of state law.

         20                 Finally, elevating the criminal

         21  penalties under Intro. 214 to upwards of $50,000 not

         22  only violates the fines that can be legally imposed

         23  for misdemeanors under section 80.05 of the State

         24  penal law and infringes on the discretion bestowed

         25  upon judges, but also makes a mockery of our
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          2  criminal justice system and the current penal law

          3  protections for crimes against both people and

          4  animals.

          5                 Lastly, the ASPCA would be pleased to

          6  work with this Committee to address ongoing problems

          7  with dangerous dogs in this City, and to come up

          8  with the most effective and reasonable ways of

          9  resolving them.

         10                 We do, however, respectfully urge

         11  this Committee to oppose Intro. 214 at this time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I may, before

         13  I move on, since you are the ASPCA, I think you have

         14  heard the Police Department about emergency service

         15  and what have you. Now, clearly your powers you are

         16  using through state statute, but you are still

         17  operating within the City of New York.

         18                 MS. WEISBERG: Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am referring to

         20  the ASPCA.

         21                 Tell me something, in your vehicles,

         22  do you have the equipment that the Police Department

         23  was referring to? I know the answer is no because

         24  they said the only one is the Police Department; and

         25  if you don't, why don't you, if you are still
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          2  operating?

          3                 And if you recognize that there is a

          4  concern, that there are situations where perhaps

          5  even place your own agents in -- I can't believe

          6  that dogs only go after police officers, but

          7  anybody, then tell me why have you not moved to

          8  equip your vehicles so that it will not only be the

          9  Police Department?

         10                 And if it is true that you are

         11  patrolling or roving around the City of New York as

         12  is said by the Commissioner or the person who has

         13  the contract with the City, the CACC, can you --

         14                 MS. WEISBERG: Sure. We do have

         15  equipment in our vehicles.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You do?

         17                 MS. WEISBERG: We absolutely do.

         18                 Number two, the ASPCA has powers to

         19  enforce laws dealing with animals, so we certainly

         20  have the powers to enforce many of these laws. It is

         21  not our primary mission since we gave up the

         22  contract with the City. We certainly work

         23  hand-in-hand with CACC and we would be happy to talk

         24  further about how we can help, but our primary

         25  mission is to investigate cruelty to animals and
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          2  take the necessary action that we are authorized to

          3  take.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, thank you.

          5                 Next.

          6                 MS. GINGOLD: I am Avrama Gingold, and

          7  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do me a favor.

          9  Push the mic closer. We don't have a stenographer,

         10  we have tapes so we need to hear your voice.

         11                 MS. GINGOLD: I will make believe I am

         12  back in the classroom. I have a loud bello.

         13                 I am Avrama Gingold, and I am here as

         14  a member of the Doberman Pincher Club of

         15  Metropolitan New York, and also one of the old time

         16  members of the Responsible Dog Owners Association.

         17  But most of all, what I am really here for is I am

         18  one of the City's more than 1 million dog owners who

         19  find themselves threatened by the draconian aspects

         20  of the proposed 214 and 359.

         21                 Others have covered all of the

         22  specifics in quoting the law so let me just make a

         23  few comments.

         24                 First of all, nobody here is going to

         25  say that untrained or uncontrolled dogs cannot be
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          2  dangerous. In the words of a guide dog user, he's

          3  got teeth, doesn't he? But what we are saying is

          4  that we contend that the existing measures that Mr.

          5  Cohen claims have failed to adequately protect, have

          6  failed to adequately protect because the existing

          7  measures have not been enforced.

          8                 First of all we have in New York City

          9  not a perfect dangerous dog law, the existing

         10  dangerous dog law is one that is cited throughout

         11  the country whenever dog control laws come up as one

         12  of the best and model laws around. Because it places

         13  the onus on, let's call it inappropriate aggression

         14  of a dog where it belongs, on the owner. The owner

         15  who does not properly control his or her dog.

         16                 We have an existing leash law that

         17  translated into every day language says their dog

         18  has got to be on a leash, unless he is in your house

         19  or behind your fence or in an authorized dog run.

         20                 If we enforced the existing leash

         21  laws, we wouldn't have to worry about dogs roaming

         22  around the City, biting or otherwise.

         23                 Now, one of the major objections that

         24  people have been mentioned before and I will say

         25  again is that both 214 and 359, by excluding the
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          2  issue of provocation, open the way to frivolous

          3  accusations and complaints about a dog being

          4  dangerous, and this, of course, contradicts the

          5  larger state law.

          6                 As 214 and 359 now stand, should

          7  somebody attempt to break into my apartment, and

          8  this is something that did happen, assault me -- the

          9  statute of limitations is passed -- assaults me

         10  while I am walking with my dog, and the dog that I

         11  then had when he saw me being assaulted did a very

         12  good number on the mugger, according to these two

         13  laws, that dog, even if all he did was bark or growl

         14  or snarl, would be defined as a dangerous dog and I

         15  would be liable to having my property, the dog,

         16  seized and detained and suffer all penalties, both

         17  explicit and implicit, in this law. I just used the

         18  word dangerous dog.

         19                 One of the things that very much

         20  bothered me, as it speaks to the thinking underlying

         21  these laws, was the continual confabulation of the

         22  terms vicious and dangerous. When my large dog steps

         23  on my foot, he is dangerous. He is not being vicious

         24  at the time. There is a difference and the law has

         25  to address and look carefully at the issues of
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          2  dangerous to whom and vicious in the sense of

          3  inappropriately aggressive. Inappropriate that

          4  agonistic behavior be directed at humans.

          5                 Again, frivolous complaints are

          6  encouraged by the very language of the bill. When it

          7  says that upon receipt of a complaint from any

          8  person that a dog is, or may be dangerous, the

          9  Commissioner may order et cetera, et cetera and so

         10  forth.

         11                 Incidently, whether or not the dog is

         12  being dangerous after eventually one of four

         13  part-time vets or one vet and who knows what --

         14  certified by what behavioral therapist that looks at

         15  it, according to the law, the owner of the dog is

         16  responsible for what amounts to at the minimum

         17  several hundreds of dollars in penalties because

         18  somebody made a false accusation.

         19                 I don't have to stand up and scream

         20  about the language in which in direct contravention

         21  to the New York State Agriculture and Market laws,

         22  where no such program of any municipality should

         23  regulate dogs, such dogs in a manner which is

         24  specific to breed, about the portion of Intro. 214,

         25  regarding necessity for a $100,000 insurance policy
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          2  on any American Staffordshire Terriers, American Pit

          3  Bull Terrier or any dog that happens to look

          4  somewhat like one of them, which means somewhere

          5  between 25 and 125 pounds and a smooth coat and

          6  teeth in its mouth.

          7                 I am not really joking, because back

          8  when these really hideous laws started being passed,

          9  dogs of all variety were accused of being Pit Bulls.

         10  I once had somebody compliment my 30-inch tall black

         11  and rust Doberman Pincher, by saying he was the most

         12  beautiful Pit Bull he had ever seen.

         13                 None of the laws, neither of the two

         14  laws really operationalizes how a dog is to be

         15  determined to be dangerous or vicious, and, again, I

         16  object to confusing the two.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Can you just wrap

         18  up, please.

         19                 MS. GINGOLD: Okay, I can wrap it up

         20  very simply. This kind of draconian law does not

         21  reflect the law at its best or even favorably. If we

         22  want to do something, we enforce existing laws, we

         23  perhaps make available inexpensive and accessible

         24  obedience training, dog training things for people.

         25  These laws aren't going to do anything except hurt
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          2  the innocent, and I am talking about the owners, not

          3  the dogs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Let me perhaps make one point that

          7  for the record to keep it straight, that the

          8  provocation provision of doing away with it really

          9  applies to Intro. 214 --

         10                 MS. GINGOLD: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You said both

         12  bills.

         13                 MS. GINGOLD: Oh, I am sorry.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  I just want to

         15  be clear that the current law and 359, that does not

         16  apply to that.

         17                 Okay, thank you very much.

         18                 MR. ORENGO: David Stein, Gary Kasek,

         19  and Garo Alexanian.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: While they are

         21  coming up, let me just say that my office just gave

         22  me a fax, and because I had the privilege of serving

         23  with her when -- excuse me. Folks, the hearing is

         24  still going on.

         25                 And because I served with her and she
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          2  was the author of the bill that we are referring to,

          3  let me read for the record a letter that I received

          4  addressed to me from the Speaker Pro-Tem of the

          5  State Assembly, the Honorable Elizabeth Connolly,

          6  who represents the 59th Assembly District. I must

          7  say that when I first got elected to the Assembly,

          8  my district was the 59th. It says:

          9                 "Dear Council Member Robles: I am

         10  contacting you concerning legislation that you have

         11  introduced in Intro. 214 which speaks to control the

         12  problems of dangerous dogs.

         13                 While I applaud your attempt to

         14  address the problem of vicious dogs and neglect

         15  owners, there is a portion of your initiative that I

         16  believe conflicts with an amendment to the

         17  Agriculture and Markets Law which I sponsored in

         18  1997.

         19                 Section 7 of your proposal requires

         20  the purchase of liability insurance as a condition

         21  of obtaining a license of a certain breed of dogs.

         22  Section 1075 of the Agriculture and Market Law

         23  states nothing contained in this article shall

         24  prevent a municipality from adopting its own

         25  programs for the control of dangerous dogs,
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          2  provided, however, that no such program shall be

          3  less stringent than this article and no such program

          4  shall regulate such dogs in a manner that is

          5  specifically to breed.

          6                 Notwithstanding the provisions of

          7  subdivisions one of this section, this subdivision

          8  and Section 121 of this Article shall apply to all

          9  municipalities including cities of 2 million or

         10  more.

         11                 It would appear that your legislation

         12  contravenes the State law which may result in its

         13  being struck down at a later time.

         14                 Having had a keen interest and

         15  concern over this issue myself for many years, I am

         16  bringing the matter to your attention with the hope

         17  that you will be able to redraft the section and

         18  continue to pursue the proposals.

         19                 Sincerely yours, Elizabeth A.

         20  Connolly."

         21                 I will make sure that both the

         22  Mayor's people and also Council Member Leffler gets

         23  a copy of this, but I just wanted to read it for the

         24  record, since again, she is a distinguished member

         25  of the Assembly that I served with. Thank you for
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          2  allowing me to read this into the record.

          3                 Why don't you just identify

          4  yourselves for the record and just proceed with your

          5  testimony.

          6                 Do you have any prepared remarks?

          7                 MR. STEIN: No, I do not.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine. I

          9  just ask that after you get finished that those

         10  remarks that you used, that we get it, because it is

         11  part of the record, okay?

         12                 Okay, why don't you start.

         13                 MR. STEIN: Thank you, Chairperson

         14  Robles.

         15                 My name is Dave Stein, I work with

         16  Legal Action for Animals, an organization of

         17  attorneys interested in working to resolve many

         18  animal problems and we have frequently appeared in

         19  front of the Department of Health with respect to

         20  the current dangerous dog law.

         21                 First I want to address the Pit Bull

         22  aspects of this law, which I think everyone who has

         23  spoken has agreed contravenes state law. No one has

         24  mentioned that ten years ago the City tried to ban

         25  Pit Bulls outright. Litigation was fought. The
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          2  American Kennel Club was the main plaintiff in that

          3  litigation, along with the American Dog Owners

          4  Association and a number of dog owners, and that law

          5  was in essence struck down.

          6                 As you have indicated, you are not an

          7  attorney, but there was a preliminary injunction

          8  applied for and granted and then the City basically

          9  dropped the issue and enacted the dangerous dog law.

         10                 Nonetheless, I think it is worth

         11  touching upon that the Court found there is reason

         12  to believe in that case the specific law was

         13  violative of due process, it was unduly

         14  overinclusive and it would affect dogs other than

         15  those that the City was trying to move against, and

         16  that perhaps the City had no reasonable basis to

         17  believe that Pit Bulls should be banned at all.

         18                 I will move towards, I believe I am

         19  citing from the same study by the Centers of Disease

         20  Control, that the Commissioner of the Department of

         21  Health referred to when he said 60 percent of dog

         22  bites are suffered by children, and that same study

         23  and other studies from the Center for Disease

         24  Control have indicated that the other large

         25  recipients of dog bites are utility workers checking
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          2  meters and postal carriers.

          3                 Yet, while postal carriers, police

          4  officers, as we have heard today, and Con Ed workers

          5  receive training about how to deal with dogs, those

          6  who are more often than any other bitten by dogs,

          7  children, receive no such training, spoken as

          8  recently as this morning, with New York City's --

          9  the Chief of Health Services for New York City

         10  Schools, Ms. Cytes, who informs me that while the

         11  City does teach about many health issues to

         12  students, dog bites are not amongst them. And so

         13  much of what we are discussing today is reactive. In

         14  fact, the Intro to bill 214 speaks of addressing

         15  these issues in a reactive fashion and finding that

         16  doing do has become burdensome, unduly costly to

         17  implement, and notwithstanding the clear fact as

         18  others have testified to, that simply because she

         19  finds something cumbersome does not mean that you

         20  disregard constitutional protections of due process,

         21  nothing in the bills put forward address the issue

         22  of alleviating the problems of vicious dogs. We are

         23  talking today about what to do after the dog has

         24  bitten. No one has sat there and discussed what to

         25  do to prevent a dog from biting.
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          2                 If you register a dog currently with

          3  the City, you receive in essence a "discount" for

          4  having a spayed or neutered dog. Why not let the

          5  Commissioner of Health give you a discount for

          6  having a dog who has been properly trained, because

          7  statistics show dogs who have been trained, versus

          8  dogs who have not been trained, are least likely to

          9  bite.

         10                 One of the options that the Health

         11  Commissioner now has in addressing dangerous dogs is

         12  the option of putting the owner and dog into a

         13  certified obedience program.

         14                 So far as we are aware, there is yet

         15  no certified obedience program that the Commissioner

         16  has approved as regulations suggest is an option.

         17                 It is distressing that we are here

         18  talking about the mounting numbers from 600 to 800

         19  dogs one year, and we are not addressing the

         20  underlying issue which is irresponsible ownership

         21  and which is having no educational program in place

         22  to keep either the public at large or children from

         23  coming in contact with dangerous dogs, or knowing

         24  how to deal with them.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

          3                 But, again, let me say that while you

          4  use notes, within your notes there was suggestions,

          5  and again, I repeat, the Chair in this Committee

          6  stands prepared to receive them in addressing. You

          7  actually went into the area of prevention or

          8  pro-educating before it happens rather than after,

          9  which is something, you are right, is the first time

         10  I have heard this. So, I welcome any written

         11  follow-up.

         12                 MR. STEIN: Legal action for animals

         13  will be submitting written recommendations.

         14                 MR. KASKEL: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15  My name is Gary Kaskel, I am the Co-chairman of the

         16  Shelter reform Action Committee. We are a group of

         17  concerned citizens and advocacy groups who have been

         18  dealing with animal issues in New York City for

         19  several years. We are currently in litigation with

         20  the Health Department of New York and the Center for

         21  Animal Care and Control, over access to public

         22  records under the Freedom Of Information Law. So, we

         23  are quite familiar with the way the Health

         24  Department works.

         25                 Because the speakers prior to me have
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          2  basically said the same thing we would have said, I

          3  would just like to endorse 100 percent the

          4  statements of the Humane Society of New York and the

          5  ASPCA. We, too, believe that this litigation -- this

          6  proposed legislation is unconstitutional. For it to

          7  be passed I would say that the Council would

          8  definitely have to allocate some money, paint over

          9  the sign above you to read a government for the

         10  bureaucrats, by the bureaucrats and of the

         11  bureaucrats because this Intro. 214 would confer

         12  unlimited power to Health Department officials

         13  unspecified.

         14                 As you know, the Commissioner does

         15  not make the personal decisions in every matter,

         16  certainly couldn't personally attend to 900 bite

         17  cases every year, and therefore delegates that

         18  authority to the Bureau of Veterinary Public Health

         19  Services.

         20                 We have dealt with that bureau for

         21  some time, and I must honestly confess that we have

         22  had a number of problems resolving issues with that

         23  Department, after they have made decisions in an

         24  arbitrary and capricious way, we have found certain

         25  officials within that Division of the Health
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          2  Department to be at times arbitrary, at times

          3  dishonest, at times incompetent and at times abusive

          4  and thought of conferring more power to unnamed

          5  individuals in the Department of Health is a

          6  frightening thought to dog owners in New York City.

          7                 We endorse preventive measures also,

          8  and we believe that the incidence of dangerous dogs

          9  could be reduced if we had adequate public education

         10  and spay/neuter programs available in New York City

         11  so the Department would not have to address these

         12  issues at such an alarming rate.

         13                 I would further remind the Committee

         14  that the breed specific legislation is preposterous,

         15  that obviously all Pit Bull Terriers are not

         16  dangerous. One comes to mind, the little dog Peatie

         17  in the Our Gang comedies was a Pit Bull Terrier,

         18  Spuds McKenzie in the Budweiser Beer commercials is

         19  a Pit Bull and General George Patton was a well

         20  known owner of a Staffordshire Bull Terrier. I

         21  cannot understand how the Administration would put

         22  forth such an obviously unconstitutional proposal

         23  and I urge this Committee not to pass it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Thank you.

         25                 Sir.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 MR. ALEXANIAN: Good afternoon,

          3  Chairman, fellow citizens. I am the producer of a

          4  nationally syndicated cable television program on

          5  animals, which reaches 8 million potential viewers

          6  in six states coast to coast. We also operate a hot

          7  line for animal-related calls which has received

          8  about 50,000 calls from New York City residents

          9  within the past decade.

         10                 Yes, every major City has a dangerous

         11  dog problem. The sponsors of these bills are

         12  justified in wanting to hold dangerous dog owners

         13  financially responsible for the actions of their

         14  dogs.

         15                 This one provision of Intro. 214 is

         16  certainly warranted, however, the rest of the

         17  proposed legislation would permit the instantaneous

         18  seizure and euthanasia of all square-faced dogs,

         19  regardless of breed or mixture or personality for

         20  merely growling at someone, even when provoked. This

         21  is draconian.

         22                 Virtually every dog has at least one

         23  or more incidence of growling or biting and

         24  threatening in a dog's lifetime. This bill would

         25  allow anyone with a personal animus against a
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          2  neighbor to file a fraudulent complaint, thereby

          3  subjecting a possible innocent party to seizure of

          4  their property, and with the commission of perjury,

          5  which as we all know is a very common occurrence

          6  these days, attain their revenge by having their

          7  enemy's dog destroyed.

          8                 In similar draconian fashion, the

          9  fine for an individual who may falsely be accused

         10  and who seek to protect his dog by taking him out of

         11  the City reaches $50,000. To put things in

         12  perspective, committing any unimaginable act of

         13  cruelty to an animal, such as setting an animal on

         14  fire, would only bring a punishment of $1,000.

         15                 Is it our intent to eradicate every

         16  single dog from this City but merely slap the wrist

         17  of animal abusers, 90 percent of whom statistics

         18  show also commit human crimes.

         19                 Are we to conclude that legislation

         20  which targets the specific behavior of irresponsible

         21  owners and only truly dangerous dogs cannot be

         22  drafted? Must we therefore embark on a policy of

         23  destroying every dog which either has a square head

         24  or which nipped someone slightly or growled in a

         25  threatening manner?
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          2                 When the Housing Authority

          3  promulgated a similar draconian seizure policy, we

          4  predicted in numerous radio and television and

          5  newspaper interviews that it would instead cause new

          6  attacks. Within days there were a rash of

          7  abandonments and resulting attacks on housing

          8  premises at the Marlboro, Sumner and other houses

          9  with several children and adults getting severely

         10  injured.

         11                 Fourteen-year-old housing resident

         12  Naquan Clark shot and killed Housing employee John

         13  Decarlo for reporting his dog to the authorities,

         14  who had seized the dog.

         15                 It is ironic that these attacks were

         16  caused by previous misguided policies and today's

         17  proposals may be a reaction at least in part to

         18  these particular incidents as they were extensively

         19  reported by the media.

         20                 As provided for in these bills, if

         21  the definition of dangerous dog is defined and the

         22  seizure is done prior to the hearing instead of

         23  after, every single dog can and will be seized for

         24  the most minor or even false allegation and killed

         25  as owners are usually unwilling or unable to go
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          2  through a hearing process, nor appeal its

          3  determination to the state courts.

          4                 And most importantly, Intro. 214, in

          5  its current form, may be in violation of an existing

          6  stipulation between the Health Department and the

          7  ASPCA and the AKC and the UKC.

          8                 In that case, when the City tried to

          9  require insurance of owners based upon

         10  breed-specific guidelines, just as Intro. 214 does,

         11  an injunction was issued against the City of New

         12  York. I submit the Order of Supreme Court Justice

         13  LeLand deGrasse dated September 19th, 1989, copies

         14  of which are available, and the stipulation dated

         15  November 26th, 1991.

         16                 Moreover, the newly-passed federal

         17  Quality Housing and Work Responsibility Act of 1998

         18  allows residents of public housing to have "one or

         19  more common household pets." It is common knowledge

         20  that public housing has a high rate of bite

         21  incidents due to dangerous dog owners. Intro. 214

         22  would appear to contradict this new federal law and

         23  it does nothing to address the locations most in

         24  need of protection from dangerous dog owners.

         25                 In summation, these well-intended

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            135

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  bills are so draconian that they are irrational,

          3  unconstitutional and most of all, completely unjust.

          4                 We do credit the Mayor for his desire

          5  to improve this quality of life issue, as he has

          6  done with numerous others. We concur that a better

          7  policy than the present system must be promulgated

          8  to address the dangerous dog issue. However, these

          9  bills would make a bad situation even worse. We

         10  suggest that this issue be revisited with the input

         11  of experts in the humane field prior to and during

         12  the drafting of the legislation.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         15  much. I appreciate that.

         16                 MR. ORENGO: Ann Lettis. Sean

         17  Alexander. And I believe M. Stone.

         18                 MS. LETTIS: My name is Ann Lettis.

         19                 MR. ORENGO: Hold on. Ann Lettis. Sean

         20  Alexander, and I assume this is Ms. Stone.

         21                 MS. LETTIS: My name is Ann Lettis. I

         22  am the Director of the Responsible Dog Owners

         23  Association of New York, which is an AKC federation.

         24  I am the Director of the Staten Island Chapter of

         25  Dog Owners Educational League. I am an AKC public
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          2  education coordinator to the American Boxer Club,

          3  secretary of Dog Fanciers, Legislative Liaison for

          4  Staten Island Kennel Club, a member of the

          5  Staffordshire Bull Terrier Club, and the

          6  Staffordshire Terrier Club of America. Also a member

          7  of Dog Riders Association of America.

          8                 Quite a few things have been said

          9  already which I was going to talk about, but rather

         10  than be redundant I would just like to touch on, as

         11  I go along in my testimony here, to one of the first

         12  things I would like to reiterate about, and that is

         13  the fact that the present dangerous dog law has not

         14  been in effect in New York City.

         15                 For example, the Dangerous Dog

         16  Advisory Board, to my knowledge, was never even

         17  formed.

         18                 We do have, as has been mentioned, in

         19  New York City a leash law. This is not enforced.

         20  There was quite a bit of discussion with the Police

         21  Department as far as how to control vicious dogs and

         22  dangerous dogs, I would like to know who is

         23  controlling the fact that people walk their dogs and

         24  they are not on a leash?

         25                 I would like anyone here to go up to
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          2  a policeman and say, could you please ticket that

          3  person for walking their dog without a leash,

          4  because trust me, it will not happen.

          5                 However, if every person who had his

          6  dog off lead, and I am not talking stray dogs, I am

          7  talking dogs off lead, if each person were fined

          8  $100, this would not only decrease many of the

          9  unfortunate dog-related incidents, but would also

         10  increase some revenues for the City.

         11                 Intro. 214, as has been mentioned,

         12  specifies a very high insurance, $100,000 worth of

         13  insurance, for the Staffordshire Terrier, the

         14  American Staffordshire Terrier, the American Pit

         15  Bull, and I am sorry, but I do find this humorous,

         16  any dogs that share the same appearance or

         17  characteristics.

         18                 Requiring owners of specific breeds

         19  to acquire additional insurance before they can

         20  obtain a license is in fact misleading the public

         21  into believing that other breeds could not be

         22  potentially dangerous.

         23                 Such action is also likened to those

         24  who believe all Afro-Americans or Italians are

         25  potential criminals, or all lawyers are crooks.
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          2                 I fully acknowledge the fact that,

          3  yes, irresponsible owners exist. There are also

          4  those who are unethical, and those who will use the

          5  dog as a lethal weapon, any dog, any breed. However,

          6  do you really think that those owners are the ones

          7  who even license their dogs, let alone that they

          8  would concern themselves with obtaining any form of

          9  insurance, let alone the liability insurance to

         10  cover their canine.

         11                 If, in fact, Intro. 214 became law,

         12  the people would be subjected to additional

         13  stipulation -- the only people who would be

         14  subjected to additional stipulation would be the

         15  responsible owners of the specific breeds.

         16                 As one who owns and exhibits both the

         17  Staffordshire Bull Terrier and the American

         18  Staffordshire Terrier, I can venture to say if you

         19  were to find as many as 20 Staffordshire Bull

         20  Terriers in all of the boroughs combined -- excuse

         21  me. Let me say, 20 Staffordshire Bull Terriers

         22  within the Tri-state area, I, for one, would be

         23  extremely surprised.

         24                 I would also venture to say that

         25  approximately one-quarter of all dogs identified as
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          2  Pit Bulls are not in fact purebred American Pit Bull

          3  Terriers. The media, the public and, yes,

          4  legislators are so quick to call any short-haired,

          5  medium-sized dog a Pit Bull. I submit for review

          6  several breeds and wonder if anyone can correctly

          7  identify all of them or even find the American Pit

          8  Bull Terrier, and the pictures are on the back of my

          9  testimony which are submitted. Also, if you could

         10  tell me how the dogs might even be related, this

         11  would be very interesting. I am sorry that our

         12  Commissioner from the Board of Health is not here,

         13  as he is so knowledgeable.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, if you

         15  leave me yours, I will make sure that the

         16  Commissioner's people get it and maybe we will get a

         17  response --

         18                 MS. LETTIS: Oh, please. I would like

         19  to know his answers.

         20                 When a legislator is going to attempt

         21  to set things right and protect both the public, and

         22  responsible dog owners, both from discrimination and

         23  those who are irresponsible, while my dogs have been

         24  and are top show dogs, they are also like many other

         25  bully breeds, have the Canine Good Citizen, which is
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          2  an achieved title. They are AKC Canine Ambassadors

          3  and registered therapy dogs. They have been and are

          4  an asset to the community. Visiting institutions and

          5  accompanying me to school assemblies where I present

          6  programs on responsible dog ownership to the

          7  children. Yet, I am afraid to walk them down the

          8  street because of loose, not stray dogs. It is a

          9  known fact, almost a sick joke, that if a bully

         10  breed defends himself from the attack of another

         11  dog, it will be him who undoubtedly is labeled the

         12  aggressor.

         13                 There is no visible control on Staten

         14  Island, dog control on Staten Island. I don't know

         15  where all of these little trucks are that go around

         16  picking up dogs, but believe me, they don't exist on

         17  Staten Island, and yet, Intro. 214 would have me

         18  acquire additional liability for my dogs? I think

         19  not.

         20                 Once any form of breed-specific

         21  legislation is passed, you run the risk of those who

         22  are irresponsible, simply letting their now-trained

         23  anti-social dogs loose as opposed to risking fines.

         24  Not a pretty thought, nor would it be a Kodak

         25  moment.
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          2                 Unethical people have been allowed to

          3  abuse various breeds through the irresponsible

          4  actions, yet, who is made to suffer? The responsible

          5  dog owners.

          6                 The term Pit Bull alone has been

          7  abused. I use it as a term as it has come to mean a

          8  vicious dog as opposed to a breed. The American Pit

          9  Bull Terrier himself was a breed which represented

         10  this country on World War I posters. His dedication

         11  to man has been proven throughout the years, from

         12  Stubby, the most decorated war dog in history, to

         13  Wheeler, who not long ago was chosen as dog hero of

         14  the year, in recognition of a heroism during the

         15  floods in Southern California.

         16                 Does anyone here actually think that

         17  one day this breed decided to have a national

         18  conference and determine they would no longer be

         19  kind to man?

         20                 The loyalty a dog of any breed gives

         21  to his owner is unsurpassed. Unfortunately there are

         22  those who misuse that loyalty, who I ask, is then to

         23  blame?

         24                 In the late 1980s the Board of Health

         25  passed a Pit Bull regulation which was later
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          2  overturned by Supreme Court Judge Leland deGrasse.

          3  At that time I did not own a bully breed, however,

          4  because of my involvement in this action, in

          5  researching these breeds I came to know and

          6  appreciate the noble qualities which now fill my

          7  life.

          8                 I graciously extend an invitation to

          9  our Mayor and Council Member Robles to attend

         10  Westminster as my guest on Monday, February 8th.

         11  Please do respond to me by February 5th so I can

         12  make the proper arrangements and my phone number and

         13  E.mail address is on my testimony.

         14                 It would be my pleasure to introduce

         15  them to the bully breeds and their responsible

         16  owners. Perhaps after doing so our plight might be

         17  considered, which is who protects us? Not only from

         18  the discrimination which exists in the media and

         19  from politicians, but from the actions of

         20  irresponsible owners. So, beware, gentlemen, you may

         21  discover as I did, that to know these bully breeds

         22  is to love them.

         23                 In closing I offer my full support

         24  and that of the organizations I represent, to work

         25  with any City official who would enforce our
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          2  existing laws and/or implement programs which would

          3  protect both the public and responsible dog owners,

          4  regardless of breed. I respectfully submit this

          5  written testimony.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before I let you

          7  speak, let me just say this, because I want you to

          8  know that, before you leave would you just make sure

          9  that you get Jose Orengo's card. First of all, i

         10  will look at my schedule with respect to those

         11  dates. Secondly, I need you to talk to him, because

         12  we have in the Council ethics, and since we are

         13  discussing pending bills before the Council, the

         14  question is whether, even though you graciously

         15  invited me to this Westminster function, I just

         16  don't know whether it might be a conflict of

         17  interest, and second, what will the cost be to you.

         18                 So that if there is no legal conflict

         19  --

         20                 MS. LETTIS: I would make sure the

         21  AKC, it would be at their invite.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, let me be

         23  clear. I am also governed based upon the same

         24  restriction as sometimes you feel you are.

         25                 MS. LETTIS: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And with all due

          3  respect, some of us do try to conform and practice

          4  what one preaches. So, I suggest that before you

          5  leave you get the card. I have to see whether I can.

          6  If I can, and there is no conflict with the ethics

          7  of the Council and my scheduling, then you might get

          8  a call saying I would be happy to accept your

          9  invitation.

         10                 MS. LETTIS: Wonderful.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Can I speak for

         12  the Mayor? You will have to speak with the Mayor's

         13  people. But I just want you to know that if I don't

         14  accept it, that because you are referring to bills

         15  that are before the Council, and depending upon what

         16  it will cost you as being your guest, if it is not

         17  over, I think it is $75 --

         18                 MS. LETTIS: Well, it's not going to

         19  buy you dinner, sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The point is I do

         21  have restrictions, but I have no qualm in accepting

         22  your invitation, I just need to clear the legal

         23  questions. I just wanted to be clear on that. I

         24  don't want you to think that you said something and

         25  then all of a sudden we say, no, I ain't going.
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          2                 Sir.

          3                 MR. ALEXANDER: My name is Sean

          4  Alexander. I work for a Rescue Unit in Laurelton for

          5  Animals, as a volunteer basis, and I am also an

          6  owner of a few Bull dogs, in which people

          7  mistakingly take for Pit Bulls.

          8                 My main concern is primarily what

          9  classifies a dog as a Pit Bull, and what protects me

         10  or anyone who is an owner of a dog that has a square

         11  head from anyone, even the police officer that is

         12  going to take your animal from you if it growls at

         13  anything.

         14                 My dog particularly has a tendency to

         15  growl at squirrels. What will make my dog seem

         16  vicious to anyone under that new law. If he growls

         17  at a squirrel, will the dog be taken away and have a

         18  hearing and be put to death because he growled at a

         19  squirrel? That is basically my concern at this

         20  particular point. And unfortunately in my area there

         21  are tons of squirrels.

         22                 Another concern is what about someone

         23  who actually perjures themselves because they don't

         24  like you, or the dog that you have is only deemed

         25  vicious because of the way it appears to be and the
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          2  propaganda that has been spread about these

          3  particular types of dogs.

          4                 So, I am not going to go on because

          5  what I had to say has already been said by the

          6  speakers sitting here, but there is a serious

          7  concern about his introduction 214 and it is

          8  basically the concerns of the owners as to whether

          9  or not these dogs are vicious, what is your

         10  interpretation of being vicious? It needs to be laid

         11  out in laymans' terms, not even in terms of being a

         12  lawyer or these complex terms, but what is it

         13  simply? What do you mean by being vicious?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, before I

         15  could answer that, you were sitting in the room when

         16  I had the Commissioner and his lawyer, although I

         17  had mine here, I am still puzzled, or at least I

         18  don't have a clear yet definition, so once I get it,

         19  I will make sure that you, too, but may I suggest

         20  because you started with something -- and again,

         21  this Chair and this Committee is ready to listen to

         22  anyone. This is the first, as the Commissioner's

         23  remarks indicated, this bill has been sitting around

         24  for about a year, and it is not because it was done

         25  deliberately. I mean, I don't know the past, but I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            147

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  can tell you so long as I preside, and the reason

          3  why again, and I have no qualm, it is the courtesy

          4  of the Council that when the Mayor submits

          5  legislation, that whoever the Chair of the Committee

          6  respectfully you will find it carrying the bill. So,

          7  I am not apologizing for the fact that my name is on

          8  the bill, but however, I will be working with the

          9  Administration, the Department of Health and

         10  advocates, and that is why I suggest that any

         11  recommendations, any suggestions, any questions that

         12  you are not sure or you have reservations, I suggest

         13  that you make contact with my counsel, Mr. Jose

         14  Orengo, and he will be around, he will give you his

         15  number, because this process is about involving, not

         16  just excluding. That is not the way I function, that

         17  is not the way this Committee functions so long as I

         18  preside over it. But I assure you, I am a believer

         19  of that motto up there. And I have tried to do my

         20  best to practice. I have been called everything to a

         21  child of God. The fact is, I was elected because the

         22  people in my district believed at this point that I

         23  am still serving them, with all due respect to term

         24  limits and I think that, you know, people realize

         25  now that the issue is not about television or who
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          2  has money.

          3                 So, my point is, as long as I

          4  preside, so long as I serve, so long as I am the

          5  people's representative in my district, and now I

          6  happen to be a big shot because I am the Chairman of

          7  a Committee, I will tell you, I do not operate where

          8  I exclude people. I am a firm believer that

          9  government is of the people.

         10                 So, having said that, may I suggest

         11  any recommendations, that is why we ask for prepared

         12  remarks, so we can, you know, but if not, please

         13  make sure that Jose Orengo, my counsel, gets all of

         14  that, and I assure you that this is but the

         15  beginning of hearings on this issue. There will be

         16  probably a bill or like the State Legislature, that

         17  after the challenge by court because promulgation of

         18  rules by the Board of Health. That is why the State

         19  Legislature now came and fixed it. I mean, that is

         20  what legislatures are all about, that is why we have

         21  a court system. So, I don't want you to think that

         22  this is a fait accompli, that all of a sudden here

         23  is the bill, one, two, three, no, not around here,

         24  not as long as I preside.

         25                 I want to thank you because I don't
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          2  want you to think that your question is again like

          3  the other one, I don't want to answer it. It is at

          4  this point I also raise, and if you recall, I said I

          5  am not a lawyer, talk to me in layman's terms, that

          6  is why I have lawyers, and you know lawyers,

          7  doctors, policemen, you put them all in one room,

          8  you have got ten different opinions and then I have

          9  to decide where I am. So, I assure you that if you

         10  make sure that he knows how to make contact with

         11  you, we will get your answers.

         12                 Madame, I thank you for having the

         13  patience, you may now proceed.

         14                 MS. STONE: Yes, Mrs. Stone, citizen

         15  and taxpayer.

         16                 What does dog spell backwards? As far

         17  as the code above us, for the people and by the

         18  people, I want to look at the dog's side of it now.

         19                 At the end of the film that was shown

         20  that said that the vicious dog was sent to a

         21  research lab, would it not have been better to

         22  punish those who trained the dog mean?

         23                 In addressing this issue, the Mayor

         24  is calling for people first. But what kind of people

         25  does he mean? The drug dealers or the low lives that
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          2  in their yellowness hid behind a Pit

          3  Bull, or the scum that set a dog on fire after it

          4  loses a fight. Or does he mean the human element

          5  that after cutting the dog's vocal chords, then

          6  locks it in a closet where he starves it, only

          7  opening the closet to knock it on the head with a

          8  pipe to make it mean, what dog would not be confused

          9  or mean when treated so?

         10                 I think we need to address the root

         11  of the problem that one rotten apple can spoil a

         12  good dozen. Laws are nice, but are they enforced?

         13  Pit Bull fighting is a felony in New York. Yet, it

         14  is not enforced. In some areas, illegal Pit Bull

         15  fights are advertised like prize fights - kind and

         16  weight of dog, and you would be surprised to see who

         17  attends these illegal fights.

         18                 Let's enforce the now laws against

         19  Pit Bull fighting and attack the root of the problem

         20  and correct it for both human and animal.

         21                 Mandatory spay/neuter laws now to

         22  help bring down the numbers we kill each year with

         23  taxpayers' dollars. Insurance policies, no one under

         24  the age of 21, or better yet, let qualified people

         25  who qualify only have them, such as the police, who
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          2  can then turn the tables on drug lords who use them

          3  to protect the drug trade, turn an enemy into be a

          4  friend and a police dog only.

          5                 Banning the dog for the sake of the

          6  dog I am not against. Why? Because what kind of life

          7  do these dogs have? I have seen them chained up

          8  throughout the United States, with stuck out ribs,

          9  chokes impeded in their neck collars, starving to

         10  death. Trained dangerous dogs are there for the low

         11  lives who have trained them the way they are and

         12  that is why we are here today.

         13                 It should be a privilege to have a

         14  dog and treat it so. Ban the dog in New York State,

         15  I am not against it. It may already be banned in

         16  England. When taken out of the hands of savage

         17  trainers, these dogs can be as gentle as kittens. We

         18  are all victims here. But let's weed out the bad

         19  weeds that are destroying our gardens and address

         20  the root problems, those who train mean.

         21                 Again, in reality, can it be done? I

         22  don't know. I don't think so. That is why I am not

         23  against banning the dog in the City for the dog's

         24  sake only.

         25                 If this bill is passed then I would
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          2  like to suggest two things, and then I am through.

          3                 One, let not only government

          4  officials judge for its life or death sentence.

          5                 Two, appointing a holding place,

          6  which seems to be a problem, other than CCAC, taking

          7  away the space burden of CCAC and paid for not with

          8  the City budget, but by Pit Bull owners.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         10  much. And I must tell you that it amazes me how when

         11  I sit here, and of course you educated me on

         12  something that I never -- and that was how you

         13  defined dog and look in reverse. Very interesting. I

         14  thank you for that.

         15                 Thank you. Thank you very much, I

         16  appreciate that.

         17                 MR. ORENGO: Robert DeFranco. Al Daly.

         18  Ranata Michalowski.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sergeant-At-Arms,

         20  would you give this to the Department of Health?

         21  That is for Commissioner Neal Cohen, because I

         22  believe that there is an invitation to have him

         23  also. Oh, no. Only me. Okay, sorry, that invitation

         24  only applies to me. But there were some questions

         25  that I believe she would like to get answers. So,
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          2  Mat, would you do me a favor, if the Commissioner

          3  does respond, can I get a copy of it, please? Good.

          4                 Thank you very much. Again, I

          5  appreciate your patience and staying here throughout

          6  the hearing.

          7                 Why don't we begin.

          8                 MR. DeFRANCO: Chairman Robles, my

          9  name is Robert DeFranco. I am a certified master dog

         10  trainer in applied animal behaviors and the

         11  Executive Director of the Animal Behavior Center of

         12  New York in Queens, which is a non-profit

         13  organization. I am a graduate student in behavioral

         14  psychology in Queens College, I write a weekly

         15  newspaper column and I am a television reporter. And

         16  I have had very little time to prepare this because

         17  I was called at the last minute.

         18                 Some believe that regardless of the

         19  circumstances that dogs should never bite. Police

         20  and guard dogs are useless and dangerous if their

         21  response to any situation is to bite. They are

         22  trained to withhold their teeth and to act in

         23  contextually appropriate coordinated manner with

         24  their human partners.

         25                 The scenario is an example of learned
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          2  aggression. These dogs are taught to exhibit

          3  aggression behaviors in response to patterns of

          4  provocative events. They are also reinforced to

          5  inhibit themselves, fighting is the exception. But

          6  if dogs are never to bite people without exception,

          7  does this mean that they cannot bite in defense,

          8  even if all levels of aggression as threats fail as

          9  a deterrent? Does it mean that no matter to what

         10  extent a human tortures a dog, the dog cannot bite,

         11  even if it means his life?

         12                 And even if one waivers on the last

         13  issue, given the interest specific communicatory

         14  problem between people and dogs, how would the dog

         15  convey to a human or a child that the dog perceives

         16  its life to be at risk.

         17                 All behaviors have environmental and

         18  genetic components.

         19                 I wanted to read, Mr. Chairman, from

         20  Clinical Behavior, Medicine for Small Animals, by

         21  Dr. Karen Overal. Karen Overal is one of the

         22  foremost authorities in animal behavior in the

         23  country. She is a veterinarian and she has a Ph.D

         24  and this is the bible in dog training and animal

         25  behavior.
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          2                 Canine vocal communication has been

          3  categorized into five basic sound groups, and the

          4  one I want to particularly mention here is warning

          5  sounds, including barking and growling. Barking in

          6  domestic dogs tends to be an announcement of a

          7  presence, of a territorial clue, or an

          8  identification of an individual. It is interesting

          9  that stray dogs seldom bark. Barking is an example

         10  of a signal that is a warning value, but is variable

         11  in character.

         12                 The second thing I wanted to mention

         13  here from Dr. Overal's book. We have a situation,

         14  there is a picture of a dog here, I will explain it

         15  to you. It is a German Shepherd, his mouth is wide

         16  open, he is showing his teeth, he is drooling, his

         17  head is back and his mouth is open. The hair on the

         18  neck is pile erected, that is when the hair stands

         19  up, the neck is fully extended, as is the oral

         20  cavity. The nares are dilated but flared and may be

         21  dripping, the skin around the eyes is pooled

         22  ventrally, the teeth, including all molars, are

         23  displayed.

         24                 If anyone looked at this dog, they

         25  would say this is a menacing dog, but the fact is
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          2  that Dr. Overal states in her book, it is an animal

          3  that is actively attempting to deflect an

          4  antagonistic situation.

          5                 Dogs would usually prefer to defer,

          6  flee rather than fight. And only when they are

          7  placed in a situation where they are provoked are

          8  they going to defend themselves.

          9                 You and I have hands and we could

         10  punch somebody in the nose, the dog can't do that so

         11  they use their teeth.

         12                 I am concerned about the terms in the

         13  bill that I have looked at just briefly, the term

         14  menacing. One individual may interpret normal canine

         15  communication as menacing and use it for personal

         16  reasons against the dog or an owner for personal

         17  reasons in a way that was not intended by the City

         18  Council. This would be a sad event for hundreds of

         19  thousands of dog owners and voters who own dogs that

         20  would not be deemed dangerous in any other

         21  circumstance.

         22                 If dogs are properly socialized as

         23  puppies, properly obedience trained at four months

         24  of age, and taken to behavioral professionals at the

         25  first sign of abnormal behavior, and if dog owners
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          2  receive some type of an education as to

          3  understanding how animals communicate, dog bites

          4  would decline drastically.

          5                 The Animal Behavioral Center of New

          6  York offers obedience classes and we treat over a

          7  thousand dogs a year. We have done rescues with the

          8  Department of Health, the New York City Police

          9  Department, I am treating a dog owned by the

         10  Assistant Commissioner of Sanitation right now --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do you have Henry

         12  Stern's too?

         13                 MR. DeFRANCO: No.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner

         15  Stern, the Parks Department.

         16                 MR. DeFRANCO: Yes, I know who he is,

         17  and no, I don't.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, I was just

         19  curious.

         20                 MR. DeFRANCO: That's all. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Thank you

         22  so much. At least you made me smile.

         23                 Go ahead.

         24                 MS. MICHALOWSKI: Yes, hello. My name

         25  is Renata Michalowski. I am a member of a local

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            158

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Prospect Park Brooklyn dog organization called FIDO.

          3  It has a web site at wwwoffleash.com and a digest

          4  where members post issues concerning dogs. And this

          5  issue has been discussed for the past several days.

          6  Now, according to information presented at this

          7  meeting, this bill has been around for a year. Well,

          8  I don't believe the general public is aware it has

          9  been around this long. I first heard of it last week

         10  when the spaying/neutering hearing was postponed,

         11  and this meeting was scheduled instead. It has only

         12  been on the local news for the past two days. I

         13  don't think that is enough time for the public to

         14  think about the implications of this law and to

         15  respond accordingly. And I would hope that another

         16  public meeting could be scheduled before voting on

         17  the final version of this bill.

         18                 Now, --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Not to cut your

         20  time, but let me just set the record straight.

         21                 MS. MICHALOWSKI: All right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Since you talk

         23  about the web.

         24                 In fairness, the bill was introduced

         25  to the Council and there is a mechanism of knowing
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          2  the bills because that is the most easiest thing,

          3  especially on the Council's web site, which

          4  everybody is on, so I must say that that bill was

          5  introduced a year ago.

          6                 Second, let me say I have heard this

          7  more than once, and let me be clear. While this

          8  Chair and this Committee, and again, I try to

          9  practice what I preach, I don't know who and how all

         10  of a sudden the other bills, the four bills that

         11  Council Member Freed introduced, all of a sudden

         12  there is a hearing when I am the chairman and I am

         13  not aware of setting a hearing that this was the

         14  replacement. And I must tell you that it was last

         15  week that Council Member Freed, and I will say for

         16  the record just because it was raised, that you see

         17  how Council Member Leffler, this Chair, when dealing

         18  with bills accordingly with the Administration, I

         19  also extended the same courtesy and any bill that is

         20  pending before this Committee, like when those bills

         21  come in, and the only four bills that I am aware of

         22  happen to be of Council Member Freed, I will reach

         23  out to the Council Member who sponsored the bill.

         24  The burden of informing, since usually those who

         25  submit bills and there are areas, certain networks
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          2  that they have, you know, in all fairness that job

          3  is not mine. But I must tell you that the only thing

          4  that I am aware of, and I will fulfill my

          5  commitment, and that was to hold a hearing on those

          6  bills in February. Where January came in, I do not

          7  know.

          8                 MS. MICHALWOSKI: And it is not enough

          9  time for the public to comment.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine. I am just

         11  simply saying, let me be clear, I am not a dictator.

         12                 MS. MICHALWOSKI: I am not saying that

         13  to you. I am just saying that I hope you will

         14  schedule another meeting.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No. There are

         16  people going around setting up things without

         17  consulting me and I want to be fair.

         18                 MS. MICHALOWSKI: I fully understand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And, again, this

         20  hearing, because I saw the cameras, when we announce

         21  there will be a hearing, and it was publicized by

         22  the Council, we have a monthly schedule, okay? I

         23  want you to know that the public, this is public

         24  hearings, I just don't want to mislead people that

         25  all of a sudden we have this somehow mechanism that
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          2  every single household that we have divided in the

          3  areas that we come forth, we rely upon networking,

          4  we rely upon those who worked with this Committee

          5  and this Council, so that for example, if the issue

          6  is not dogs for the moment, but let's say lead.

          7  Automatically we know the advocates who consistently

          8  come here through all of the hearings.

          9                 So, I just want to be clear, so let

         10  me say this for the record for everybody. This is

         11  not the first, nor last, hearing and issue on dogs.

         12                 MS. MICHALOWSKI: That's what I wanted

         13  to hear.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me say,

         15  however, this is not a hit and run whenever the

         16  issue comes up. There is going to be a lot of bills

         17  coming through this Council that impact upon dogs or

         18  cats or you name it. And I suggest that you start

         19  identifying yourselves directly with my Counsel, and

         20  after that you deal with me, not with web sites and

         21  all that stuff, and people allegedly saying that

         22  there is a hearing which unbeknown to me I didn't

         23  even know -- well, I do know, I do know. And let me

         24  say that in February, because I deal with a year's

         25  schedule since the new year and we met and already,
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          2  you know, January we had these hearings, February, I

          3  am telling you that on the agenda for this Committee

          4  will be those four bills. I am telling you between

          5  now and the hearing I will be dealing with the

          6  Council member who introduced the bill, because we

          7  have four bills.

          8                 Now, the introducer had to now make a

          9  decision do you combine the four bills and make one

         10  bill, since they all are related, or I will have all

         11  four bills on the agenda, and then ultimately the

         12  consensus of the Council members in this Committee,

         13  and eventually if it ever gets reported out, in

         14  talking with the prime sponsor, then it will be

         15  moved out to the Council as a whole.

         16                 So, I took the time to explain it,

         17  but I repeat, here is my Counsel, I can't speak for

         18  the past, I just became Chairman of this Committee

         19  January of last year, I have tried to do something

         20  that perhaps was not done before. I am telling you,

         21  no bills go through this Committee without the

         22  public being informed and also being part of.

         23                 So, since this bill was sitting

         24  around for a year -- as a matter of fact, let me

         25  tell you something, I have not had a meeting with
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          2  the Administration on this bill, okay? Because I

          3  felt I wanted to hear from the public on not only

          4  the Administration's bill, but Sheldon Leffler's

          5  bill, who he tells me was around before this bill.

          6  So, I just want to be clear and set the record

          7  straight, I do not do things by myself, even though

          8  I am the Chairman, I do discuss it with my committee

          9  members. I also, with all fairness, I also meet with

         10  the Speaker's Office who sets the legislative agenda

         11  for the Council and the Committee, but I assure you,

         12  this was not done to keep anybody out. On the

         13  contrary, this is the first of many hearings. What

         14  you see today may not, and I am talking about both

         15  the Mayor's bill and Sheldon Leffler's bill, if

         16  there is going to be a bill, there will be a bill.

         17                 MR. MICHALOWSKI: All right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: When it is going

         19  to happen, I cannot tell you, but I will assure you,

         20  I do not keep out the public. And I urge you,

         21  especially those who are the advocates for animals,

         22  you know, now you know who I am, start dealing with

         23  Jose Orengo.

         24                 I apologize, but I wanted to set the

         25  record straight. So why don't you just go ahead.
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          2                 MS. MICHALOWSKI: Thank you very much.

          3                 Mayor Guiliani stated, there was a

          4  clip on the evening news, that laws exist to protect

          5  people, not dogs, and I vehemently disagree, they

          6  are there to protect everyone. Behind every dog

          7  there is a person or persons, many of them children,

          8  who love and care for what they consider their

          9  family member. And my question is this: How do we,

         10  do owners, who have non-aggressive pets, how are we

         11  protected from the misuse or the abuse or the

         12  misinterpretation of this law, or a malicious intent

         13  by another individual. This law seems to say you are

         14  guilty until you are proven innocent. But don't

         15  worry, the state will do what is right in lieu of

         16  removing our constitutional rights to due process,

         17  and it will do this for the purpose of expediency

         18  and lowering city costs.

         19                 Now, several scenarios have been

         20  presented here, and I will give you another one. The

         21  word menacing has been used and the word menacing is

         22  a very subjective interpretation. I don't know how

         23  the word menacing will be enacted into the reality

         24  of law. What will happen, for example, to a person

         25  who is walking his dog and the dog perhaps barks or
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          2  growls at another individual and that individual

          3  runs to a police officer and says I have been almost

          4  attacked by a vicious dog? According to this law,

          5  this dog can be taken away and the person can be

          6  just subjected to fines and all sorts of

          7  psychological damage because they have lost their

          8  dog, and I don't think that is fair and I think that

          9  is what the common person objects to, is the lack of

         10  fair due process.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me also say,

         13  since you asked two questions, and let me, I don't

         14  normally do this, but in fairness because I want to

         15  begin a dialogue, because I repeat, this Chair took

         16  over the Health Committee because I was concerned

         17  who would preside over it, particularly because you

         18  are here today with dogs. I also know there is a

         19  movement to privatize our public health system in

         20  terms of hospitals and health clinics, and because I

         21  grew up in Williamsburg, the district that I am

         22  proud to represent today, I am concerned with the

         23  fact of the direction we are going and I agree with

         24  you, like the Health Department, I am one of those

         25  critics that I remember what it used to do when John
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          2  Lindsay was Mayor, and I got elected just about when

          3  Ed Koch was the Mayor, and I saw this agency go from

          4  an advocate and one who was supposed to set the tone

          5  in terms of health and health direction to

          6  contracting out and letting everybody else do it but

          7  me. So, I want you to understand that I took it over

          8  for a reason.

          9                 But let me be clear. When you asked

         10  the question, how do you as a resident and a citizen

         11  and perhaps a voter in the City of New York, how

         12  does your voice input get heard, then I suggest that

         13  you have elected, in this body there are 51 members,

         14  including the Speaker of the Council, including this

         15  Chair who is the Majority Whip as the third leader

         16  of the Council, each of us have been elected, I

         17  suggest you communicate to your elected official in

         18  the Council because it takes a consensus to vote any

         19  bill, so if I have nine members I need five plus,

         20  whatever it is, if they are not convinced and if

         21  they are oversaturated with letters and complaints

         22  from their constituents, I will tell you, this bill

         23  is dead.

         24                 But if you just come once in a blue

         25  moon and say about generally and all of this, and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            167

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  the community -- excuse me, there are 51 members of

          3  the elected. And my first priority, with all due

          4  respect to this Chair and to my titles, my first

          5  priority is to represent the interests of the people

          6  of the 34th Council District. I must tell you, I

          7  have gotten zero from people from my district, on

          8  any one of these bills. And I am not blaming you for

          9  that --

         10                 MS. MICHALOWSKI: Unfortunately the

         11  reason for that is because the average person gets

         12  his news from either television or the paper, and,

         13  you know, by the time the bill has been introduced,

         14  the meeting has been scheduled, they find out about

         15  it after the fact.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I want you

         17  to know that this hearing is the first one, and the

         18  clock starts now. Every one in my district, as of

         19  this morning when I watched all of the television,

         20  including (In Spanish), and Tonight and all of this

         21  other stuff, I assure you, my constituents who may

         22  not put on Channel 2, 4, 7, whatever it is, New York

         23  1, although many are now watching 2, they will put

         24  on channel 47 and 41 and 53 in Brooklyn, and I am

         25  telling you that what I am saying is, you asked a
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          2  question how do you have input, regardless of what

          3  we do individually, the Administration with the

          4  Council, you know, me with Leffler, I am telling you

          5  start advocating since you have all the web and all

          6  of that stuff, with those and encourage them to

          7  communicate with their local Council members and you

          8  will see that the momentum can change because of the

          9  squeaky wheel. Then people with good reason would

         10  sit down, and we could sit at a table and maybe we

         11  could come up with a bill that maybe is not the bill

         12  that you keep saying no, no, no to, but perhaps

         13  start addressing some of the areas and some of the

         14  things that are being recommended like education.

         15  Like I said I believe that the Department of Health

         16  has the staff to do its job, but that is me

         17  personally. But every time I have tried to deal with

         18  the budget, while everybody recognizes I want this

         19  and I want that and I want you to enforce the

         20  restaurants, you got to give them the resources.

         21  They will never admit they need resources, that's

         22  clear.

         23                 So, the question is, how do you have

         24  input? I suggest that you encourage participation by

         25  the voter. That is what democracy is all about. I
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          2  don't care what anybody in power suggests, do away

          3  with hearings with this, democracy rules when people

          4  of good faith remains us, that who put them where

          5  they are.

          6                 But if you don't do that, then I have

          7  to deal with what's before me, like I said, my name

          8  is on there, I am not apologizing to anybody, I am

          9  the Chairman of this Committee. The Mayor submitted

         10  to the Council, to the Speaker's Office proposed

         11  legislation, it is the Council's rule that when the

         12  Mayor proposes that a member, whoever presides over

         13  the committee, is the person who then you find the

         14  name Robles at the request of the Mayor.

         15                 I am not going to apologize to

         16  anybody. That is something that is not only here, I

         17  was a member of the Assembly for six years, the same

         18  thing. Now, that's number one.

         19                 Number two, I repeat, may I urge all

         20  of you to reach out to Jose Orengo as we move this

         21  process. This is not the last of this hearing. There

         22  is no vote on this, on either one of these two

         23  bills, this is the beginning to allow the public to

         24  be heard. I thank each of you. And I apologize to

         25  the gentleman, you will get your lick, but I thank
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          2  everyone who came out today, but I must be blunt and

          3  clear, the squeaky wheel gets the oil. You want to

          4  have input? Find out who your Council person is and

          5  express to them, he or she, about what your feelings

          6  are. And if none of you did that, I will tell you,

          7  we are creatures of a political system, and they

          8  will respond, and right now I am telling you that

          9  that is not happening. But in fairness, that is why

         10  we have these hearings, okay?

         11                 Sir, I apologize, but I need to set

         12  the record straight.

         13                 MR. DALY: Well, I appreciated all day

         14  listening to you expressing a lot of my views, and I

         15  appreciate that. I did not expect that when I saw

         16  your name on the bill.

         17                 However, one of the things that

         18  surprised me the most today is that the Commissioner

         19  who represents the Health Department, is the least

         20  familiar of exactly what the laws are in this State

         21  and the City of New York.

         22                 I have here a copy of the memorandum

         23  signed by George Pataki, the Governor of the State

         24  of New York, when he signed a bill that says

         25  memorandum filed with Senate bill No. 4749-b
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          2  entitled the Dangerous Dog Bill, which the assembly

          3  was instrumental in passing, and the first sentence

          4  says, "This bill amends the Agriculture and Markets

          5  Law to, (1) clarify that municipalities may adopt

          6  programs for the control of dangerous dogs, provided

          7  such programs are not less stringent than Article 7

          8  of the Agriculture and Market law, and are not breed

          9  specific." That is one, the first paragraph.

         10                 Now, for the Commissioner and the

         11  Mayor not to understand this is, you know, where are

         12  we at today?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Did you know they

         14  fight with each other?

         15                 MR. DALY: What?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Have you watched

         17  television lately? I think they are not on the best

         18  of terms at the moment, but that's life. Like Ed

         19  Koch used to say, "That's life".

         20                 MR. DALY: Yes. You know, basically,

         21  you know, you talk about us being involved and I

         22  just want to let you know that for 22 years I served

         23  on the community board, 18 as chairman now from

         24  Queens, my wife ten years on the community school

         25  board, five years as president, we are familiar with
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          2  processing.

          3                 However, one of the things that we

          4  are now involved with is dogs and dog legislation,

          5  because as a retired person I am enjoying myself,

          6  and I think like "Tootsie" as well as my "Brutis",

          7  if we ever drove up to a gasoline station and God

          8  forbid they saw the attendant trying to pump gas in

          9  our car, whether we had a Chiwowa or a Great Dain,

         10  we would have the most vicious dog in the world,

         11  according to the gas guy pumping out gas because

         12  they go crazy. I don't care which dog or what breed

         13  you have, they will go nuts. And the same thing

         14  applies, you know, you recall the cop sitting on the

         15  corner and saying there is a vicious dog there, it's

         16  two pounds but it's trying to get me, or 80 pounds

         17  or 100 pounds. So, you know, your definition as

         18  breed-specific must be abolished totally because as

         19  I say, the Chiwowa in the car, as well as the Great

         20  Dain or elephant in the car, however, big you want,

         21  will go crazy with a gas station attendant touching

         22  my car. Not my car, the dog's car.

         23                 So, I think the bill itself, 214,

         24  should just be dropped. I don't think there should

         25  be any further discussion, or even go any further in
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          2  the City Council, until both the Mayor and the

          3  Commissioner of the Department of Health understand

          4  what the first sentence is on this memorandum that

          5  George Pataki signed in '97. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, because I

          7  know you were in the room and you were listening to

          8  me, even when I asked the Commissioner, especially

          9  on the insurance part, and I did before I saw my

         10  colleague Elizabeth Connolly's letter to me which

         11  was given to me by my staff while I was sitting

         12  here, I have raised a concern because I do know that

         13  we are the creatures of the state, and there is a

         14  state law, and I have said I will instruct the

         15  Counsel of this Committee, through our Legislative

         16  Office in Albany, to make contact with the Attorney

         17  General of the State of New York, that if this law

         18  gets passed will be the defender of the state

         19  against the City for violating state law.

         20                 So, before I move, I will make sure

         21  that -- because you see my problem with the state

         22  is, and I was part of it, is that they pass a lot of

         23  laws, and then they rely upon the municipality to

         24  carry it out. And then when you try to argue with

         25  the State law, they don't really defend their laws
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          2  the way they are supposed to.

          3                 So, before I start going after

          4  anybody, I need to make sure I understand what the

          5  state interprets this law as.

          6                 And if you noticed, the Commissioner

          7  was honest to say, that I believe -- at least the

          8  Counsel to the Commissioner for the agency admitted

          9  that this pending legislation or Intro. has not

         10  been, and they have a legislative office in Albany

         11  also, has not been passed on to have it checked. But

         12  we will do that.

         13                 This is the beginning, it is not the

         14  end. There is no vote, this is the beginning to try

         15  to address whatever the issues are, whatever the

         16  definitions are.

         17                 But I repeat, I really, honestly

         18  welcome, and I thank you because I have seen you sit

         19  here from the beginning to the end. I hope this is

         20  not the first or the last time. This Chairman is

         21  prepared to work with the professionals, or just

         22  simple advocates or simple citizens of the City of

         23  New York. That is the beauty of our City.

         24                 But I repeat, if we do not get to

         25  know who they are on a regular basis, because this
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          2  issue here today, listen I was around the last time

          3  with the Pit Bull, and remember, it wasn't the Board

          4  of Health only, the Council was ready to -- it had

          5  an introduction of a bill to ban Pit Bulls. Because

          6  you remember at that time, and I was here, and I was

          7  supporting it because a lot of our children became

          8  victims, and maybe it might have been an instant

          9  reaction, but the ruling was not against the

         10  Council, the ruling was against the Board of Health

         11  who tried to beat us to it, and this was not

         12  Giuliani at the time, and they then promulgated

         13  rules within the powers they have within the Board

         14  of Health. It was then you all who went to the

         15  courts and the decision to overthrow that was the

         16  rules promulgated by the Board of Health, which is

         17  the Health Department, and you are right.

         18                 So, again, I want to thank you and I

         19  hope that you do keep in contact with Jose Orengo. I

         20  don't see anybody else, unless there is anything

         21  else that needs to be done, if not, I adjourn these

         22  hearings.

         23                 MS. COPELAND: I am here to testify.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Oh, wait. Hold on

         25  a second. Did you sign in, Ma'am?
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          2                 MS. COPELAND: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  All day I have

          4  been saying to sign in with the Sergeant-At-Arms.

          5  All right, come on.

          6                 MS. COPELAND: Thank you so much.

          7  Karen Copeland. I am an attorney with Legal Action

          8  for Animals and I am also a private attorney who

          9  represents people for having pets primarily in the

         10  context of landlord tenant law and in the area of

         11  discrimination against the disabled for keeping of

         12  pets. And I wanted to say for the most part, we

         13  endorse everything that has been said beforehand. I

         14  do have one additional thing to add that hasn't been

         15  said before, and that is, there is a suggestion I

         16  have in terms of curtailing the amount of dog bites

         17  in the City and that is of perhaps the 40 people

         18  with Pit Bulls that I have represented in the past

         19  few years, approximately 20 of them have come from

         20  the New York City Housing Authority. So, I am aware

         21  -- that the Housing Authority tells me in the past

         22  year alone they have been able to get rid of 1,500

         23  dogs. And the way they do that is they put a note

         24  under people's doors saying if you don't get rid of

         25  the dog in five days, you are out of here. And then
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          2  we have to call these people back right away and

          3  say, no, in fact you are entitled to due process of

          4  law, you are entitled to a hearing, you are entitled

          5  to put in evidence. But unfortunately, if we don't

          6  get them within that five days, most of these people

          7  have already discarded their dogs to the Housing

          8  Authority. So you have their dogs then running

          9  around loose, not being cared for, kids are teasing

         10  and beating them up and, gee, what a shock when the

         11  dogs bite people.

         12                 So, in fact the City itself is very

         13  much responsible insofar as they fool these people

         14  into thinking that they are not entitled to due

         15  process of law into causing a proliferation of dogs

         16  running around loose and sometimes biting people.

         17                 Now there is a new federal law, the

         18  Quality Work and Housing Responsibility Act recently

         19  passed in 1998, which allows all residents of City

         20  Housing to have one or more common household pets.

         21  Already our Housing Authority is saying this doesn't

         22  apply to them, they are going to keep with their

         23  policy of no pets whatsoever, and then harassing,

         24  you know, picking and choosing those people that

         25  they want to go after for so-called dangerous dogs.
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          2                 I can tell you of the ten people I am

          3  currently representing for the New York City Housing

          4  Authority hearing officers, each one of them has a

          5  Pit Bull-like dog, each one of them has pages and

          6  pages of petitions of neighbors saying that the dogs

          7  are in fact gentle. We have had them all checked out

          8  by animal behaviorists, and yet the Housing

          9  Authority continues to prosecute these people merely

         10  because of the type of dog they have.

         11                 Yet, when we go into a hearing and

         12  say, okay, let us put our animal behaviorist up to

         13  give evidence that these are gentle dogs, we are

         14  told, no, we can't put in such evidence, and it is

         15  only there because it is a dog. Not because it is a

         16  dangerous dog, only because it's a dog and their

         17  rule is no dogs.

         18                 So, rather than having the public

         19  have to go to court now and compel by injunction the

         20  Housing Authority to stop fooling its residents into

         21  thinking they can't have a dog or they are out in

         22  five days, which I might add is a total lie, even if

         23  they were to win their case, all they could say is

         24  now you must remove the dog. They never actually

         25  remove the person, then I would think the
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          2  proliferation of dogs running loose and biting

          3  people after they are abused would have to be to

          4  some degree curtailed.

          5                 I would also like to mention that the

          6  new law, as has been mentioned before, is clearly

          7  unconstitutional in that it removes people's

          8  opportunity to be heard, opportunity to be heard

          9  after a hearing, after a determination of

         10  viciousness or dangerousness is made and after an

         11  order is issued is actually no opportunity to be

         12  heard whatsoever. The opportunity has to become

         13  before an order is actually issued.

         14                 Also, notice of two days after the

         15  determination that the person can now do something

         16  to save his dog's life, two days' notice by regular

         17  mail is virtually no notice.

         18                 Part of due process is a person has

         19  to be able to put in defenses, this bill removes the

         20  possible defenses of things like trespassing,

         21  provocation.  And I might say, just in answer to the

         22  Health Department Commissioner, even though someone

         23  might come up with an absurd provocation defense,

         24  like the dog was jealous of the baby, that is not

         25  any reason to remove all possible defenses, again it
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          2  is clearly unconstitutional.

          3                 I would suggest --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me perhaps --

          5  because there are really two issues that you have to

          6  separate. I did see you on television this morning

          7  with the two ladies --

          8                 MS. COPELAND: And they were nice

          9  dogs, weren't they?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I try to be fair

         11  and I am not a lawyer, so because I am not I try to

         12  separate the legality jargons that happen in the

         13  courts and the laws and all of that stuff, so let me

         14  walk through.

         15                 With respect to, because you have two

         16  laws --

         17                 MS. COPELAND: Right. Both being

         18  ignored.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, you know

         20  that, maybe a lot of people don't and I want to get

         21  the record straight. There is allegedly, because 90

         22  percent of our housing developments are federally

         23  subsidized, and HUD originally, through regulations

         24  implemented, although I must tell you that cities

         25  like the City of New York did go to Albany, I mean
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          2  to Washington, to lobby about the original ban pets

          3  in public housing developments. That's clear.

          4  Because when I first moved into Lincoln Plaza as a

          5  kid, no one would allow a pet in public housing,

          6  okay? That along the way they allowed it, and then

          7  what HUD did was to promulgate rules, but the

          8  problem I have with what the rules or law is, is

          9  like I said when you have loopholes. So, now you

         10  have a federal law, but if you read it and look at

         11  it, it still gives the discretion to the

         12  municipality.

         13                 MS. COPELAND: Again --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am not going to

         15  debate you, I am just telling you, I suggest that if

         16  you want to address that it will be addressed not

         17  for the City of New York because the City of New

         18  York took the position, and their lawyers are saying

         19  look at the law, it gives me the option to keep what

         20  I have in place.

         21                 Now, they may be wrong, you are

         22  absolutely right.

         23                 MS. COPELAND: No, actually they have

         24  to allow pets subject to restrictions. Right now

         25  they are saying no pets unless you have a
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          2  seriousness illness.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, let me say

          4  something, the old regulations amended that to allow

          5  senior citizens, because of what was happening, and

          6  senior citizens are exempt from what allegedly

          7  supported -- and that is the way I understand it, I

          8  am not a lawyer, I may be wrong.

          9                 I am saying that I am also reading,

         10  and I suggest that the Congressional -- you know

         11  what the problem is? Washington cannot pass laws,

         12  and have the City of New York do whatever they want

         13  to do, and then we have a delegation to remind and

         14  say, excuse me, Mr. City, you do this, we will hold

         15  up the funding. I will bet you they will change

         16  their tune. So long as you allow it to happen, then

         17  in all fairness, not only this Administration, but

         18  administrations, like the merger of the Police

         19  Department, I held it up for over a year because I

         20  was concerned with the $80 million subsidy that came

         21  from HUD. And until there was a written commitment

         22  by HUD that we would not lose those fundings, then

         23  and only then that I had to back away and now we

         24  have a merger which I am not too thrilled with.

         25                 So, I want to be clear, I want to
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          2  make sure we understand it. So, I am ready. When the

          3  Congressional Delegation sensors the City of New

          4  York, to go after in court and challenge the City of

          5  New York saying, excuse me, our law does not say --

          6  the intent of the law is not the way you are

          7  interpreting and let the federal courts make a

          8  decision.

          9                 Second, the State law you are

         10  referring to, which is something I have been arguing

         11  all morning, since I was not aware of it until, you

         12  know, you get briefed and what have you, that is why

         13  -- I don't know if you just came in or you were

         14  here.

         15                 MS. COPELAND: No, I have been here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. I have

         17  directed my counsel to communicate with the State

         18  Attorney General, since now Assemblywoman Elizabeth

         19  Connolly, and if you read her text, she is referring

         20  to the liability of the insurance and singling out

         21  just a brief. It is not that, oh, I am against the

         22  bill and what have you, it's fine. Let the Attorney

         23  General of the State of New York, who is the

         24  Chief Officer of the State, give me an opinion that

         25  says that is in violation of the law, you know what?
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          2  I will use it to say to the City, excuse me, then

          3  have your lawyers, be ready, because if we do, you

          4  are going to be challenged in court by the State

          5  Attorney General, because he has to represent the

          6  people of New York State.

          7                 So, I understand where you are coming

          8  from, I understand what you are saying. My

          9  frustration is, a lot of things are happening in

         10  public housing developments because of the failure

         11  of HUD to hold the City of New York accountable to

         12  what legislatively the intent was.

         13                 MS. COPELAND: Well, that is exactly

         14  what is happening here with that quality work and

         15  housing responsibility act.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But I can't stop

         17  that.

         18                 MS. COPELAND: But one thing is that,

         19  you know, you might as the chairman of the Health

         20  Committee, might point out that the Housing

         21  Authority even irregardless of the new federal law,

         22  shouldn't be putting notes under people's doors

         23  saying get rid of your dog or you are out of here in

         24  five days.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What I would
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          2  suggest, with all due respect, I have 11 housing

          3  developments and I am going to tell you something, I

          4  communicate with the leadership of the Tenants

          5  Association, and you know what their problem is?

          6  They are too busy wheeling and dealing with the

          7  chairman who just left, because they talk to them,

          8  they don't talk to us, and I constantly tell them to

          9  communicate their frustration and their concerns,

         10  and I must tell you, I don't get that kind of

         11  communication.

         12                 MR. COPELAND: Well, we get a lot of

         13  it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I will remind

         15  you, the federal government gave the City, HUD gave

         16  NYCHA and the housing development monies to educate

         17  the leadership. Now, I am not against you, but I

         18  will say to you like I said to the young lady, the

         19  squeakie wheel?

         20                 MS. COPELAND: We are squeaking.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Not you as an

         22  individual. Get the residents of public housing and

         23  the leadership to do the same thing I told the other

         24  lady, start bombarding the 51 members of the Council

         25  whose district has public housing developments and
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          2  make it an issue and I assure you that the Deputy

          3  Majority Leader of the Council who happens to be the

          4  Chairman of the Housing Committee, Archie Spigner,

          5  will have no choice then to bring in the interim

          6  chairman and the Housing Authority to say why are

          7  you doing this?

          8                 And I assure you that when that

          9  happens, I, too, will be right there fighting. My

         10  frustration, I stopped going to those, in terms of

         11  NYCHA, because every time I being to address what

         12  you are saying to me, they remind me, well, our

         13  residents, we meet with them and they are not saying

         14  the same thing. The ones who are saying it are the

         15  ones we catch with the dogs. And the others are

         16  saying, oh, yes, that is where the drug dealers are,

         17  they should throw them out.

         18                 So, the one thing I won't do, I won't

         19  divide a house. I will not play this polarization.

         20  But I assure you, and it is not just, oh, by the

         21  way, you are Chairman of the Health Committee,

         22  listen, in this body it is the Housing and Buildings

         23  Committee who oversees New York City Housing

         24  Authority, and the only reason we have that

         25  responsibility is because we have $10 million of tax

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            187

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  levy money that was put in there, but we cannot tell

          3  them how to use the federal funds. HUD is supposed

          4  to do that.

          5                 But you are right, and as I say, I

          6  saw you this morning. You made three points that I

          7  began to use this morning. Point number one, due

          8  process. I am a believer in due process.

          9                 Point number two, I believe you said

         10  about a state law, as you could notice even now

         11  Elizabeth Connolly sends me this law. You raised

         12  this morning, one of the ladies said this morning on

         13  TV, well my mother is a senior. Well, excuse me,

         14  they can't throw that dog out. If the household of

         15  that apartment --

         16                 MS. COPELAND: But they did it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, then I

         18  suggest you find out what Council Member it is,

         19  because if it was in my district, I assure you I

         20  will go after any manager in my district who is

         21  making a senior's life miserable in terms of the

         22  aggravation and what have you, because I know HUD

         23  says. HUD says seniors are exempt. So, if the person

         24  is the household and the senior, I will go after

         25  NYCHA, but we must build that momentum. I will tell
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          2  you it is not going to happen unless Council Members

          3  being to hear from their constituency.

          4                 So, I welcome your testimony, don't

          5  get me wrong, and I am willing to work with you. You

          6  identify any constituent of mine being abused by

          7  NYCHA, believe me, I will go after NYCHA. You can't

          8  expect it to be a Citywide policy, one of my

          9  frustrations is where is the congressional

         10  delegation who oversees HUD where their money is

         11  appropriated? Where is the congressional delegation

         12  who legislatively passed -- do like Elizabeth

         13  Connolly, do that, okay?

         14                 MS. COPELAND: Well, I would like to

         15  answer that. I must say, of the few people that do

         16  contact us, you know, we do of course apprise people

         17  of their rights, but it is all the people that don't

         18  get to us. I mean, we have represented 15 people

         19  (sic), they got rid of 1,500 dogs. That is a lot of

         20  people who panicked when they got that note.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I assure you, and

         22  I say this respectfully as not the Chair of this

         23  Committee but as a Council Member, anyone in public

         24  housing developments in my district, in North

         25  Brooklyn, Williamsburg, in Bed Stuy and Bushwick in
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          2  my district, because I am not going to do the work

          3  for somebody else, they get elected too, I will

          4  address it and I will deal with it.

          5                 MS. COPELAND: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We need to

          7  communicate more often, that is all I am saying,

          8  okay?

          9                 MS. COPELAND: I appreciate that.

         10  Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         12  much, I appreciate it.

         13                 MS. COPELAND: It's my pleasure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Nobody else? I

         15  adjourn this hearing.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 5:00 p.m.)
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